
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Tuesday, 5 May 2020. 
 01476 406080

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Thursday, 14 May 2020 at 1.00 pm
Virtual meeting - This meeting is being held remotely

Members: Councillor Jacky Smith, Chairman of the Council
Councillor Breda Griffin, Vice-Chairman of the Council

Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor David Bellamy
Councillor Chris Benn
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth
Councillor Robert Broughton
Councillor George Chivers
Councillor Louise Clack
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Councillor John Cottier
Councillor Helen Crawford
Councillor John Dawson
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Barry Dobson
Councillor Mike Exton
Councillor Paul Fellows
Councillor Helen Goral

Councillor Jan Hansen
Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Gloria Johnson
Councillor Mrs Rosemary 
Kaberry-Brown
Councillor Anna Kelly
Councillor Ms Jane Kingman
Councillor Philip Knowles
Councillor Matthew Lee
Councillor Nikki Manterfield
Councillor Annie Mason
Councillor Penny Milnes
Councillor Virginia Moran
Councillor Charmaine Morgan
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Robert Reid
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Susan Sandall
Councillor Ian Selby

Councillor Mrs Judy Smith
Councillor Lee Steptoe
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Ian Stokes
Councillor Jill Thomas
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-
Bellew
Councillor Sarah Trotter
Councillor Dean Ward
Councillor Hannah Westropp
Councillor Hilary Westropp
Councillor Amanda Wheeler
Councillor Mark Whittington
Councillor Jane Wood
Councillor Paul Wood
Councillor Sue Woolley
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

Agenda
Accessing the meeting
Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 

Council – 14 May 2020

If using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app before 
you can enter the meeting; please allow time for this. If you are using a laptop or desktop computer, 
you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser.

Council

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/8N7NRQ64?sl=1


When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 
meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins.  Members of the public should not use the 
Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors who will use it to indicate that they 
would like to speak. 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, please e-mail 
democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and 
Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 make provision for local 
authorities to hold meetings in a different way. It also provides for local authorities to make changes 
to their rules to facilitate remote meetings. On this basis the provision within the Constitution for 
public speaking, Members’ Open Questions and Notices of Motion have been suspended for this 
meeting in support of the smooth-running of the virtual meeting. 

This agenda will cover urgent items of business only.

1.  Chairman's welcome

2.  Statement by the Leader of the Council on Covid-19

3.  Register of attendance
 Members
 Officers

4.  Disclosure of Interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at 
the meeting.

5.  Minutes of the meeting held on 2 March 2020 (Pages 3 - 19)

6.  Extension of 6-month attendance rule
A report of the Leader of the Council to consider granting an extension to the 
six-month attendance rule to prevent Councillors ceasing to be a Member of 
the authority under Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972.

(Pages 21 - 23)

7.  Amendments to the Constitution: Provisions to provide clarity and 
accountability in emergency scenarios
A report of the Leader of the Council and the Chairman of the Constitution 
Committee proposing amendments to the Council’s Constitution to provide 
clarity in future emergency situations. 

(Pages 25 - 30)

8.  Update from the Leader of the Council

a)  Decisions taken during the COVID-19 response period 
including decisions made under General Exception and 
Special Urgency arrangements 

(Pages 31 - 116)

A report of the Leader of the Council summarising Key Decisions 
that have been made under urgency provisions and officer 
delegated decisions taken as part of the Council’s response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


PRESENT
Councillor Jacky Smith, Chairman

Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor David Bellamy
Councillor Chris Benn
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth
Councillor Robert Broughton
Councillor George Chivers
Councillor Louise Clack
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Councillor Helen Crawford
Councillor John Dawson
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Barry Dobson
Councillor Paul Fellows
Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Breda Griffin
Councillor Jan Hansen
Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Gloria Johnson
Councillor Anna Kelly
Councillor Ms Jane Kingman
Councillor Philip Knowles

Councillor Nikki Manterfield
Councillor Penny Milnes
Councillor Virginia Moran
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Susan Sandall
Councillor Ian Selby
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith
Councillor Lee Steptoe
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Ian Stokes
Councillor Jill Thomas
Councillor Sarah Trotter
Councillor Dean Ward
Councillor Hannah Westropp
Councillor Hilary Westropp
Councillor Jane Wood
Councillor Paul Wood
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

OFFICERS OFFICERS

Chief Executive (Karen Bradford)
Strategic Director, Transformation and 
Change (Lee Sirdifield)
Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operational (Gary Smith)
Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas)

Interim Director of Finance (Richard 
Wyles)
Director of Law and Governance (Shahin 
Ismail)
Head of Governance (Jo Toomey)

MINUTES
COUNCIL
MONDAY, 2 MARCH 2020
1.00 PM

3

Agenda Item 5



The Chairman welcomed the Council’s new Chief Executive, Karen Bradford as it 
was her first day working for the authority, and hoped that she would enjoy her time 
working for South Kesteven District Council.

84. Public Open Forum

The Chairman stated that because all the questions that had been submitted were 
addressed to the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy, who had given 
an apology for absence, a response would be provided by the Leader. In answering 
the questions, the Leader clarified that all responses were in draft format and advised 
that a formal written response would be sent to the questioners.

Question 1

Question to: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, the Cabinet Member for Culture 
and Visitor Economy (responded to by the Leader of the Council on behalf of the 
Cabinet Member)
From: Mark Botteley

“Having read through the Bourne CiCLE Festival event Appraisal Report, which I’m 
sure you've all read, I noticed several things.

And I quote:

"The events core aims were to raise the profile of Bourne as a destination, bring 
economic benefit to the town, build community engagement across the district and 
encourage local schools’ involvement. These aims were achieved...

There were also loads of positive testimonials from participants and locals...Due to 
shortage [of time] I'll quote just one.

"As long serving residents of Pickworth, we would like to thank you all for the 
spectacular cycle race you ran through our village yesterday. May it be the first of 
many. Why should Yorkshire have it all!"

Finally, at the bottom of the report, the words:

"Overall the net income of £127,681 is a welcome boost for the town. It has created a 
positive platform which hopefully as the number of inbound visitors increases in 
subsequent years, could form a significant economic boost for the town.”

In addition to all of the positivity from the report, Jonathan Rigby, Commercial 
Director of British Cycling, had made the observation whilst visiting the Festival last 
year, that what we achieved should be seen as a blueprint for how to run a National 
level Cycling Event.

Bearing in mind all of the above, and considering the Festival was launched as a 3-
year project, I would like to ask the following question:

4



Why was the Bourne CiCLE festival cancelled by a cabinet member (Rosemary 
Trollope-Bellew) when the Culture Committee agreed for it to go ahead but with a 
lower budget?”

In reading the draft response, the Leader explained that Cabinet Members did not 
make decisions in isolation. He articulated the Council’s commitment to delivering a 
programme of events and festivals across the district and stated that this involved 
balancing the needs of local communities and visitors as well as providing value for 
money for council tax payers. Value for money was assessed through the 
development of a detailed business case that analysed visitor numbers, spend in 
local shops and other social and economic benefits against the cost. He added that 
the business case should also identify any other funding streams and the extent to 
which an event was supported by local residents and businesses. 

The response stated that the Council could not wholly support the Bourne CiCLE 
event and no proposition had been presented setting out how Council funding could 
be leveraged to support an event that did not have wider financial or community 
support. No allocation had therefore been made for Bourne CiCLE festival in the 
2020/21 budget. 

Question 2

Question to: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, the Cabinet Member for Culture 
and Visitor Economy (responded to by the Leader of the Council on behalf of the 
Cabinet Member)
From: Mark Botteley

“Are we having the Festival in 2021 and can we have a smaller version this year 
within the budget restraints as a taster for next year so it keeps up the momentum of 
a cycling festival?”

The draft response recognised how festivals and events helped make South 
Kesteven a more attractive place to visit and live, adding that these events needed to 
be well-planned and demonstrate value for money. A review of all the festivals that 
were supported by the Council and how that funding was spent was underway.

It was noted that both Gravity Fields Festival in Grantham and Stamford Georgian 
Festival took place every other year and on that basis the Cabinet Member was open 
to supporting the planning of an event for 2021; this event would need to be inclusive 
and of benefit to the wider resident and business communities whilst demonstrating 
value for money.

It was not possible to confirm that Bourne CiCLE festival would return in 2021, but 
submission of a sound business case for any event would be welcomed. The 
business case would need to demonstrate the economic and social benefit of staging 
the event, as well as a breakdown of funding and support requested from the Council 

5



and other stakeholders and sponsors. This could then be considered as part of the 
Council’s budget-setting process for 2021-22.

Mr. Botteley highlighted the risk of such a festival moving to a different area and of 
the district missing out. 

Question 3

Question to: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, the Cabinet Member for Culture 
and Visitor Economy (responded to by the Leader of the Council on behalf of the 
Cabinet Member)
From: Struan Cornell

“Why has it taken so long for the decision taken by the Culture committee not to have 
the Bourne CiCLE Festival in 2020? When on November 5th the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee recommended the festival should be approved by Council, 
subject to stronger budget controls.

In fact, for a first year event, we exceeded expectations and that has been 
recognised by the County SAG and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee back on 
Nov. 5th. it was more than a couple of cycling events...It was a community event and 
opportunity for Bourne - and the wider area to unite in a joint festival. We also had 
special cycling events for children.....THEY are our future. We met the County SAG 
10 times before it was signed off and they had no problem with what we delivered.

We submitted an Economic Report and a Financial Report in November 2019.

We have been asked to supply a "relevant governance process" document...This 
translates as "kick it into the long grass" It was also recommended that we have a 
workshop...Never organised, not that it was ever needed.

It was also inferred that the Bourne Wheelers could receive support for their other 
2020 events...but were never approached.

In fact, Grimsthorpe Castle were planning a special weekend as the riders passed 
through the estate...that will never happen now.”

The draft response that was read by the Leader explained that decisions of this 
nature took time and involved seeking a range of views. He stated that the Council 
would only support events that had a sound business case and could demonstrate a 
positive social and economic impact to ensure the best use of council tax payers’ 
money.

Reference was made to the comments about the Safety Advisory Group, which 
meant that the event had been staged safely, rather than reflecting on whether the 
event was successful or constituted value for money. The response also stated that 
the Council had to ensure that any event benefitted the local town and wider area in 

6



which it was staged. It was also stated that such events could not be Council-led and 
should not be wholly Council funded.

Mr Cornell asked a supplementary question, asking why £20,000 earmarked for 
Bourne had been diverted to the Gravity Fields Festival. The Leader responded, 
stating that a £20,000 allocation had been made within the festival budget but it was 
not allocated to a specific festival. He added that Gravity Fields Festival had its own 
funding mechanism.

Question 4

Question to: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, the Cabinet Member for Culture 
and Visitor Economy (responded to by the Leader of the Council on behalf of the 
Cabinet Member)
From: Struan Cornell

“It has been said that there were two potential dates...End of November 2019, I was 
told to start planning for the 25/26th July. I was also given the revised route for both 
days and asked if we could marshal the revised points without any problem.

Why have you, one person, taken the decision that the festival will not go ahead and 
then put out on Twitter that "No decision has been made".

Can you stand up in front of these people present today and say that the Bourne 
CiCLE Festival will return for 2021 and 2022?”

In conveying the response the Leader apologised if an indication had been given that 
the festival would be going ahead in July 2020; this had not been authorised by the 
Cabinet Member. The response reiterated that there would be no guarantee that 
Bourne CiCLE would return in 2021 but that the Cabinet Member for Culture and 
Visitor Economy would welcome the submission of a sound business case which 
would be considered through the right Council processes. The business case would 
need to demonstrate the economic and social benefit of staging the event, as well as 
the funding sought from the Council, other stakeholders and sponsors. The business 
case would then be considered when the Council sets its budget for 2021/22.

The Leader added that he had said that he would be prepared to meet with the 
Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy and local stakeholders to discuss 
future options. 

Mr. Cornell stated that if the festival was to go ahead next year, then planning 
needed to begin. He also indicated that key stakeholders would be willing to meet. 
He also articulated an aim to bring the festival back at a lower budget with more 
commercial input. The Leader reiterated that he was happy to attend a meeting.

85. Apologies for Absence

7



Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Baxter, Cottier, Exton, 
Kaberry-Brown, Lee, Mason, Morgan, Reid, Trollope-Bellew, Wheeler, Whittington 
and Woolley.

An apology for lateness was received from Councillor Adams.

86. Disclosure of Interests

No interests were disclosed.

87. Minutes of the meeting held on 30 January 2020

The minutes of the meeting held on 30 January 2020 were proposed, seconded and 
agreed as a correct record subject to amending the final sentence on page 27 to 
read:

“Those Some members that spoke did not consider that a need had been 
demonstrated for any additional textile recycling facility.”

88. Communications (including Chairman's Announcements)

The Chairman stated that, although the event was listed, she had been unable to 
attend the Mayor of Grantham’s comedy night because of another engagement. She 
referred to the recent civic dinner, which she felt had provided an excellent 
opportunity to talk to members of the business community within the district and 
stated that feedback had been positive. 

The Chairman’s annual civic service of thanksgiving had been held in St. Wulfram’s 
Church on Sunday 1 March 2020. The church choir, which had an international 
reputation, sang as part of the service. The service was commended by the Mayor of 
Market Deeping through one of the Members present at the meeting. 

The Chairman also referred to upcoming events including the Commonwealth flag 
raising on Monday 9 March 2020, the inaugural RAF flag raising on 1 April 2020 and 
the Chairman’s Charity Gala on Friday 3 April 2020, for which tickets were still 
available. 

The RAF flag raising was welcomed by members of the Council. Reference was 
made to a series of events that the Chairman had been unable to attend; a 
programme of short films in the Deepings, which the Council had sponsored. Thanks 
were expressed to the local Members who had been involved in delivering the project 
and the Council’s Head of Arts.

89. Pay Policy Statement 2020-21

The Chairman, in her capacity as the Chairman of the Employment Committee 
proposed that the Council approves the Pay Policy Statement 2020. In doing so, she 
referred to the discussions on the statement that had taken place at the meeting of 

8



the Employment Committee on 18 February 2020, which were informing the 
Committee’s future work programme. The Chairman stated that there had been no 
fundamental changes from the 2019/20 Pay Policy Statement and highlighted those 
areas that were statutorily required to be included.

The proposition was seconded and in doing so reference was made to the continued 
focus of the way the Council was operating to improve its policies, procedures and 
practices. Upcoming activities that were highlighted included the next staff survey 
and a review of pay and reward to ensure that the Council operated as an employer 
of choice that was able to attract and retain the best talent.

During debate on the item, questions were posed about the previous review of the 
Council’s senior officer structure, the costs associated with it and whether the 
payback period for associated redundancies had been met. Questions were also 
asked about how much redundancies had cost in 2019/20 and the allocation in the 
2020/21 budget for redundancies. The Leader responded stating that it was not 
appropriate to share details of the redundancies that had been made in the meeting 
but stated that technical details could be circulated to members. He added that re-
structuring would be a priority for the Chief Executive in order to realign the 
management team to council priorities. He indicated that ordinarily redundancies 
would be funded from reserves so there was no specific budgetary allocation. If, as a 
result of the forthcoming restructure it was considered necessary, adjustments may 
be required to add a line to the budget for redundancy payments. The Leader also 
stated that he was happy to have a meeting outside the meeting with a Member who 
asked about the range of termination payments. 

One Member referred to the salaries listed for senior officers and indicated he 
believed them to be value for money when considered in the context of other 
organisations, including some charities and a local hospital trust.

On being put to the vote, it was AGREED:

The Council adopts the Pay Policy Statement 2020-21.

90. Budget Proposals for 2020/21 and indicative budgets for 2021/22 and 
2022/23 - A district that works for everyone, delivering opportunity

Before discussion began on the Council’s Budget 2020/21, it was proposed, 
seconded and agreed to suspend article 4.11.4 of the Council’s Constitution, which 
restricted the maximum amount of time a Member could speak to five minutes, for 
this item only and instead allowing Members to speak for a maximum of 10 minutes.

The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources presented his report setting out 
budget proposals for 2020/21 and indicative budgets for 2021/22 and 2022/23, which 
he considered supported the Council’s ambition to make South Kesteven a better 
place to live, work and invest. Members were informed that the Council was required 
by law to set a balanced budget. He also confirmed that in accordance with Section 
25 of the Local Government Act 2003, the Chief Finance Officer had confirmed that 

9



reserves levels were adequate and the estimates used to prepare the budgets were 
robust.

Members were advised that the proposals had been subject to robust scrutiny by 
both the Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Cabinet. The budget for 
2020/21 had been based on a one-year deal following a further delay to the review of 
the funding formula, which created uncertainty and meant that the medium term 
projection was currently unbalanced pending further information on the review. 

The Cabinet Member stated that the new Chief Executive would be leading the 
development of a new corporate plan that would realign budgets to support delivery 
of the Council’s ambitions.

Members’ attention was then drawn to the opportunity that had been given to district 
councils to increase their council tax by £5 for one-year only. Reference was made to 
consultation that had been undertaken on council tax proposals.

Fees and charges had also been reviewed as part of the budget-setting process, 
clarifying those services that must meet their costs and those that the Council wished 
to incentivise. It was noted that in most cases the proposed increases were in line 
with inflation.

Attention turned to the Housing Revenue Account, which for the first time in 5-years 
included a rent increase in line with Government policy. Any tenant who experienced 
difficulties in meeting the increase would be encouraged to see whether they were 
eligible for universal credit. The Housing Revenue Account proposals incorporated a 
5-year Capital Programme of £60m to acquire and build homes.

Reference turned to opportunities for the Council to generate income, with specific 
mention being made of EnvironmentSK and InvestSK. Members were given an 
indication that performance of EnvironmentSK during its first year of operation had 
been favourable and it was now taking on additional responsibilities for cutting grass 
verges around Grantham, the cost of which would be funded through the Grantham 
Special Expense Area. Members also noted that during 2019/20 InvestSK had 
relocated to the Council’s St. Peter’s Hill offices, reducing its overheads; this had 
been reflected in a reduction to the company’s budget, reducing it from £1.4 million to 
£540,000. This reduction also reflected the Council’s desire to refocus InvestSK’s 
work on inward investment, economic development and growing the visitor economy.

Provision had been included within the Budget for foodbanks and the installation of 
18 new defibrillators in Grantham. Funding had also been allocated for Member and 
community grants, which would enjoy a more streamlined application process to 
optimise their use. 

Members noted that additional funding had been included: adding an additional 
£20,000 towards the festival programme in the district and an additional £35,000 to 
support the operational costs of the university hub in Grantham.

10



The Cabinet Member turned to the closure of the all-weather sports pitch in the 
Deepings for safety reasons. An assurance was given that the capital proposals 
included an allocation towards a replacement pitch.

It was proposed that the Council maintained a General Fund working balance of 
10%. There would also be a street scene reserve for price fluctuations and to 
respond to the financial pressures of maintaining the fleet to a good standard. The 
volatility reserve would be replaced with a stabilisation reserve, which would allow 
the levelling out of under- and overspends over the medium term. A commercial 
reserve of £500,000 had been established to provide set-up funding to kick start 
commercial opportunities subject to sound business cases, appropriate governance 
and due diligence. 

In concluding his overview of the Budget, the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources referred to the resolution of Council which declared a climate emergency. 
Since that declaration the Council had appointed a climate change officer and was 
looking at how it could harness technology to deliver services and efficiency whilst 
protecting the environment. To support this, a £20,000 climate reserve had been 
created, which would provide a starting point until further business cases were 
brought forward. 

The budget was proposed and seconded. In doing so, the Leader thanked everyone 
from all political groups, the Cabinet and senior officers who had assisted in bringing 
forward the budget, which he stated, helped the Council remain on track to achieve 
its vision of financial self-sufficiency by 2025. Reference was made to the potential 
for sustainable and dynamic growth within the district that would enable communities 
in both urban and rural areas to thrive whilst responding to the challenges of the 
changing world. 

The Leader referred to the newly adopted Local Plan, which would ensure the 
Council retained control over developing communities, including providing new 
homes to support young people getting onto the housing ladder, and mixed use 
developments to meet a variety of housing, employment and business needs. He 
added that the Council had also set ambitious targets to deliver more social housing 
across the district. 

A reserve of £500,000 had been created to fund one-off asset maintenance and 
improvements to ensure that the Council was managing its properties in a 
commercial way. 

News was awaited about Lincolnshire County Council’s Housing Infrastructure Fund 
bid, which, if successful, would mean £71 million to fund a large part of the Grantham 
relief road and contribute towards the necessary infrastructure for Spitalgate Heath 
Garden Village. The Council was also progressing its Future High Streets and 
Heritage Action Zone bids to secure Government funding and support regeneration.

11



The Leader moved on to talk about leisure provision, referring to feasibility studies 
and business plans that were underway. Once these had been completed, 
consultation with stakeholders and the wider public would be undertaken. 

Further reference was made to the Council’s environmental commitments and 
projects that were already underway, including the replacement of traditional 
streetlights with smart-enabled LED lights and the installation of 12 charging points 
for electric vehicles in the four market towns.

The proposed budget included plans to increase car parking charges in line with 
inflation where they applied. It was noted that charges had not risen for 10 years and 
the Council had to ensure that it had the ability to invest in its car parks to ensure that 
they were fit for purpose. The Leader recognised a need for quality car parking 
across the district and announced that the Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations would be leading work to look at how the Council could improve its 
provision to increase footfall in the district’s towns whilst mitigating against 
congestion. 

Consultation had been undertaken on the future of the Customer Service Centres in 
Stamford and Market Deeping. The consultation results would be carefully 
considered and the feedback taken into account when a decision was made on that 
provision. 

Reference was made to the proposed council tax increase and the need to future-
proof the services that the Council provided. By way of context, Members were 
reminded that South Kesteven was one of the lowest charging district councils in the 
country.

In his speech, the Leader recognised the heritage of the district, including its links to 
the armed forces, and drew Members’ attention to a recent project to create a heroes 
orchard in Grantham. He thanked Wyndham Park Forum and the National Trust for 
their roles in leading the project. 

Members noted that the Council, working in partnership with South Holland, North 
Kesteven and West Lindsey district councils, had formed a partnership and secured 
a bid for £600,000 of Government funding to reduce rough-sleeping levels across the 
area. 

The Leader stated that with the arrival of the new Chief Executive, a review would be 
undertaken to realign the Council’s management structure with a view to making 
savings of at least £300,000 in the 2020/21 financial year. The Council was also 
undertaking work to strengthen the way in which it procured services and contracts, 
with an aim of achieving savings of £350,000 within the next financial year. 

As the Leader had exceeded the time limit of 10-minutes, it was proposed, seconded 
and agreed that he be heard to the conclusion of his speech.

12



Budgetary provision of £850,000 had recently been approved for work to upgrade the 
offices within the main Council offices on St. Peter’s Hill and South Kesteven House, 
including important maintenance and upgrade work. The aim of the project was the 
enhancement of the working environment for Members, staff and visitors, to improve 
staff morale and making the Council a more desirable place to work. This project 
would include an examination of how the Council could make best use of its estate, 
identifying unused office space within its buildings that could be leased out to other 
organisations. 

The Leader concluded by referring to the wider political context, including the 
withdrawal of Great Britain from the European Union and a new White Paper on 
devolution. He recognised that whilst there were challenges ahead, there would also 
be opportunities for the Council. 

The proposition was opened to debate; reference was made to the cross-party 
working that had gone into the preparation of the budget and support was expressed 
for such initiatives as the Big Clean. Concerns, including watercourses and the use of 
consultants had been satisfied. The Independent Group stated that it had got two 
amendments that it wished to put forward:

1. The £20,000 identified in the budget 2020/21 for events and festivals be 
identified for events and festivals in Bourne.

2. In order to support local business on the high street we propose to have the 
first one-hour car parking charge free and thereafter the charges to be 
increased as proposed in the budget. The cost is estimated at £80,500 to be 
financed from the Local Priority Reserve

The first amendment responded to concerns that had been raised by local councillors 
from Bourne. The second motion responded to concerns about the high streets. 
Whilst it was acknowledged that it had been some time since car parking charges 
had been increased, it was felt by allowing one-hour’s free parking, the Council would 
be able to support local businesses. 

The Council considered each of the amendments in turn, to which end, the 
amendment regarding the allocation of funding for events and festivals in Bourne was 
seconded.

In seconding the amendment, it was suggested that the funding should be made 
available for events in Bourne subject to submission of a successful bid based on 
how possible it would be to stage and the financial viability of the proposed event. 

Those comments that were made in support of the amendment made a clear 
distinction between the proposal and Bourne CiCLE festival, stating instead that 
agreeing the proposal would be a gesture to help restore the faith of the communities 
within the town. Reference was made to some of the festivals that were already 
being run within Bourne.

13



It was noted that the Leader had already made a commitment to meet with key 
stakeholders in Bourne, including talking about the potential of Bourne Corn 
Exchange. Members were also advised that stakeholders in Bourne were being 
contacted by the Council’s Head of Arts with a view to arranging a meeting about 
how festivals in Bourne could be taken forward. It was also noted that each of the 
other festivals in the district: Gravity Fields, Stamford Georgian and the Deepings 
Literary Festival each took place every other year and the level of Council funding 
that the CiCLE Festival received in 2019.

One Member referred to the CiCLE festival and stated that they felt it should continue 
as an event to bring the community together. It was reiterated that the amendment 
was not intended to be about Bourne CiCLE, but the wider festival and event offer in 
Bourne. The work related to the Corn Exchange was welcomed. 

In accordance with Article 4.13.4 of the Constitution, more than 10 members 
requested a recorded vote on the amendment: 

For: Councillors Bisnauthsing, Clack, Crawford, Dilks, Fellows, Hansen, Kelly, 
Kingman, Knowles, Milnes, Moran, Selby, Judy Smith, Steptoe, J Wood and P Wood 
(16)
Against: Councillors Adams, Bellamy, Benn, Mrs. Bosworth, Broughton, Chivers, 
Cooke, Dawson, Dobson, Goral, Griffin, Jeal, Johnson, Manterfield, Dr. Moseley, 
Robins, Stevens, A Stokes, I Stokes, Thomas, Trotter, Ward, Hannah Westropp, 
Hilary Westropp, L Wootten and R Wootten (26)
Abstain: Councillors Sandall and Jacky Smith (2)

On being put to the vote, the amendment was lost. 

The amendment related to car parking was then seconded.

Those Members who supported the amendment indicated that they felt that providing 
an hour’s free parking would help high streets to flourish by encouraging people to 
spend more time in the town centres. Members also recognised South Kesteven as a 
district that encourages tourism; it was felt that this proposal would complement the 
Council’s tourism aspirations.

Some members felt that the number of available car parking spaces was a greater 
concern than the cost of parking, with specific reference being made to Stamford. 
Some members felt that there should be more town centre car parking; it was noted 
that there as part of work on the Cattle Market car park in Stamford, an additional 
100 plus spaces would be created. 

A member who spoke against the amendment stated that the proposal in the Budget 
to increase car parking charges was to enable the Council to invest in its car parks 
and keep them in a good condition. It was suggested that the amendment would 
encourage people to stay for shorter periods of time and spend less rather than 
encouraging them to stay in towns longer. Another member suggested that parking 
for one hour should be dearer on a pro rata basis than parking for longer periods.

14



Members noted that during the coming year work would be undertaken to develop a 
strategy for car parking that complemented the Council’s priority for growth. Member 
engagement in the process was welcomed.

On being put to the vote, the amendment was lost.

Debate returned to the substantive Budget proposals. A request was made that 
copies of Budget speeches be circulated to Members in advance of the Budget 
Council meeting. 

Some concern was expressed about whether the budget went sufficiently far in 
respect of climate change. It was suggested that the allocation of £20,000 did not 
send a message that reflected the resolution passed by the Council. Concern was 
also expressed about the extension of the Council’s fleet of vehicles. Reference was 
made to the Council’s investment strategy and a question posed about whether it had 
been reviewed since the Council had declared a climate emergency to ensure that 
the Council was not using council tax to fund carbon emissions. 

The funding included in the Budget for renewing the provision of an all-weather pitch 
in the Deepings was welcomed. It was noted that the Football Association was 
prepared to grant an additional £600,000 on a pitch that was suitable for competitive 
football. It was noted that different playing surfaces were required for football and 
hockey the surface towards which the Football Association would contribute would 
suit football only. An alternative surface was suggested that would be suitable for 
both sports so that the hockey club still had a venue at which it could play. A question 
was also put to the relevant Cabinet Member about the formation of a working group 
of local Councillors to focus on the delivery of Deepings leisure centre and when its 
first meeting was likely to be held.

The Deputy Leader in his capacity as the Cabinet Member for Growth and Leisure 
responded to the comments. He stated that the Bourne and Deepings hockey club 
would be playing at a nearby pitch. He also set out statistical information on the use 
of the pitch for football and hockey training, including the number of hours the pitch 
was used for each sport and the amount of income that was received. 31.5 hours of 
football were played on the pitch each week, delivering an income of £13,000 per 
annum whilst 6.5 hours of hockey was played bringing with it an income of just over 
£1,000. He also confirmed that a meeting of the working group looking at Deepings 
leisure centre would be held.

Another Member, in speaking on the budget, linked the proposals to the period of 
austerity. Whilst it was welcomed that a stand-still budget had been proposed, the 
shortfall in future years had caused concern. Opposition was expressed to the cuts to 
both the community fund and ward member grants; the member also suggested that 
the £15,000 allocation to foodbanks did not go sufficiently far. The reduction in 
funding for InvestSK was noted. The speaker did not feel that it was an appropriate 
time to be spending £850,000 on the refurbishment of the council offices and passed 
comment that less than 40% of consultation respondents supported the £5 council 

15



tax increase. The speaker also expressed concern that the £20,000 allocation was 
not sufficient. The HRA programme was welcomed. The speaker concluded by 
referring to the promised management restructure and the impact it would have on 
staff morale.

One Member asked about the Council’s progress in becoming self-sufficient by 2025 
and whether that target was realistic. The Leader responded to the question later in 
the meeting, stating that the budget document referred to a corporate strategy. This 
would be developed by the Chief Executive and the Cabinet and presented to the 
Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee before being brought to the Council. He stated that it was still the 
Council’s ambition to be financially self-sufficient by 2025. He also referred to a 
recent Conservative Councillors conference at which the Local Government 
Association and Council Leaders were pushing for a 4-year funding settlement and 
greater clarity.

Concerns regarding the allocation for tackling the climate emergency were 
responded to. Members were advised that the Carbon Trust had yet to finish its 
carbon budgeting exercise. Once that had been completed and the extent of the 
necessary work had been identified, projects would begin to come forward. It was 
noted that the £20,000 included in the 2020/21 budget was not the Council’s only 
commitment, but rather its starting point. The Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations, under whose remit the Council’s vehicle fleet fell, acknowledged that it 
had increased size because it incorporated vehicles that were part of the Big Clean 
and EnvironmentSK vehicles. He stated that acknowledging all of the vehicles made 
the carbon budget harder to reach but demonstrated that the Council was taking 
responsibility for the emissions of those vehicles. He also informed Members that 
there were a small number of electric vehicles within the fleet; although there were 
not considered to be enough. He also highlighted the challenge of collecting waste 
without sufficient technology or infrastructure. 

Reference was made to the £500,000 capital allocation to help the Council exploit 
commercial opportunities as it worked to become self-sufficient by 2025.

In supporting the budget, one Member acknowledged the announcement made by 
the Leader in relation to the additional car parking spaces in Stamford. Some 
concern was expressed because it was felt that the additional car parking was in the 
wrong place. Members responded to this comment, recognising the heritage of 
Stamford and the challenge of finding available space for additional parking within 
the town centre. One member also stated that there were sufficient crossing points 
between the Cattle Market car park and Stamford town centre, and by walking to the 
town from this car park, visitors could enjoy views of Stamford from the Meadows.

Reference was made to the reduction in Ward Member grants and an indication was 
given that some Members did not take advantage of the scheme. One Member urged 
Councillors to submit their applications by the 13 March 2020 deadline to access the 
funding for 2019/20, extolling the benefits that the funding could provide for local 
community groups.

16



In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 a recorded vote was taken on those proposals related to the 
General Fund and the setting of council tax.

(Councillor Clack had left the meeting prior to the recorded vote on recommendations 
1 to 9 being taken).

For: Councillors Adams, Bellamy, Benn, Bisnauthsing, Mrs. Bosworth, Broughton, 
Chivers, Cooke, Crawford, Dawson, Dilks, Dobson, Fellows, Goral, Griffin, Hansen, 
Jeal, Johnson, Kelly, Kingman, Knowles, Manterfield, Milnes, Moran, Dr. Moseley, 
Robins, Sandall, Selby, Jacky Smith, Judy Smith, Stevens, A Stokes, I Stokes, 
Thomas, Trotter, Ward, Hannah Westropp, Hilary Westropp, J Wood, P Wood, L 
Wootten and R Wootten (42)
Against: Councillor Steptoe (1)
Abstain: No Councillors abstained

A further vote was taken by show of hands in respect of the proposals relating to the 
Housing Revenue Account (recommendations 10 to 16), which was carried by a 
majority of Members. 

It was therefore AGREED: 

GENERAL FUND 

1. To set a General Fund budget requirement of £15.181m for 2020/21 
detailed at section 3 of the report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources and shown in detail at Appendix A(i) (inclusive of special 
expenses). 

2. To approve a Council Tax level of £163.62 for 2020/21 (Band D property) 
and noting the calculations made in accordance with the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 as amended and set out in Appendix K to 
the report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

3. To note the indicative base estimates for 2021/22 and 2022/23 as detailed 
in the summary at Appendix A(i) to the report of the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources.

4. To approve the General Fund Capital programme for 2020/21 to 2022/23 
and financing statement detailed at section 5 of the report of the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources and shown at Appendix C(i). 

5. To approve the movements in General Fund Revenue and Capital 
reserves and balances detailed at section 7 of the report of the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources and shown at Appendix D(i).

6. To approve the Treasury Management Strategy detailed at section 8 of 
the report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and 
provided at Appendix E.

7. To approve the Capital Strategy detailed at section 8 of the report of the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and provided at Appendix F.

17



8. To approve the fees and charges policy detailed at section 9 of the report 
of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and shown at 
Appendix G.

9. To approve the fees and charges detailed at section 9 of the report of the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and shown at Appendix H.

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

10. To approve dwelling rent increases of 2.7% (CPI + 1%) in accordance 
with Government guideline rent providing an average rent of £79.64 (an 
average rental increase of £2.02 per a week).

11. To approve an increase in garage rents of 3%.
12. To approve an average increase of 3% in service charges for communal 

facilities and communal rooms.
13. To approve an increase in shared ownership rents by 2.7% (CPI +1%). 
14. To approve the Housing Revenue Account for the year 2020/21 and 

indicative years 2021/22 and 2022/23 detailed at section 4 of the report of 
the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and shown at Appendix 
A(ii). 

15. To approve the Housing Investment programme for 2020/21 to 2022/23 
and financing statement detailed at section 5 of the report of the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources and as shown at Appendix C(ii).

16. To approve the movements in HRA revenue and Capital reserves and 
balances detailed at section 7 of the report of the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources and shown at Appendix D(ii).

91. Updates from the Leader of the Council

(a) Leader's report on urgent decisions

The Leader of the Council confirmed that since the last report had been made to 
Council on 30 January 2020, no decisions had been taken using any of the urgency 
provisions.

(b) Meetings of the Cabinet approved since the last Council meeting

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting that was held on 21 January 2020 were included 
in the agenda pack for Members’ information.

92. Notices of Motion given under Article 4.9:

(a) Councillor Morgan

The Council’s Constitution states that no motion of which notice has been given will 
be debated in the absence of the Member who proposed it. As an apology for 

18



absence was received from Councillor Morgan the motion was withdrawn from the 
agenda.

Confirmation was given that the motion would be rolled over to the next meeting of 
the Council.

93. Close of meeting

The meeting was closed at 15:17.

19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Council 
14 May 2020 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Extension of six-month attendance rule 

This report asks Council to grant an extension to the six-month attendance rule to prevent 
Councillors ceasing to be a Member of the authority under Section 85 of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 

 

 

Report Author 

Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 

 
01476 406152 

 j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 24 April 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 5 May 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 5 May 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To approve a dispensation for all Members to agree an extension to the six-month 
attendance rule in Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 

2. To grant an extension to the six-month rule until 30 September 2020 in order to 
avoid any Councillor ceasing to be a member of the Authority under Section 85 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 

21

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 states that “if a member of a Local 

Authority fails, throughout a period of six consecutive months from the date of their last 

attendance, to attend any meeting of the Authority they will, unless the failure was due to 

some good reason approved by the Authority before the expiry of that period, cease to be 

a Member of the Authority.” 

1.2 Attendance can be at any Committee or Sub-Committee where the functions of the 

Authority are discharged or that is appointed to advise the Authority on any matter relating 

to the discharge of its functions. A Member’s attendance at a meeting of an outside body 

to which they were appointed by the Council would also qualify. The Local Authorities and 

Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime 

Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 set out that attendance at virtual 

meetings is also acceptable.  

1.3 The requirement can be waived and the time limit extended if any failure to attend was for 

a reason approved by the Authority, in advance of the expiration of that six-month period. 

The granting of an extension is a decision that can only be made by the full Council. 

1.4 The impact of COVID-19 has affected the number of meetings the Council is holding, 

which may make it increasingly difficult for some Members to attend a meeting. Any 

meeting during the restriction period will be conducted virtually, which may affect some 

Members’ ability to participate, for instance if the area in which they live suffers from poor 

broadband connectivity. 

1.5 Should any Member lose office through failure to attend for the six-month period, the 

disqualification cannot be overcome by the Member subsequently resuming attendance, 

nor can retrospective approval of the Council be sought for an extension of time.  

2 Available Options Considered 

2.1 The Council could choose not to grant an extension to the six-month rule however this is 

not recommended because it could lead to a number of Members ceasing to qualify 

through no fault of their own in these exceptional circumstances. The suspension of 

elections until 7 May 2021 by the Coronavirus Act 2020 would also mean that the Council 

could potentially be forced to operate with a number of vacancies for a prolonged period. 

3 Preferred Option 

3.1 So that no Member is penalised by the coronavirus pandemic, Council is asked to grant an 

extension to the 6-month rule for all Members. 

4 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

4.1 It is necessary for Members to grant themselves a dispensation to consider the extension 

of the 6-month rule because all Members could benefit financially by remaining qualified 

and claiming their allowance when they would otherwise have ceased to be a Member. 

4.2 To prevent any Member losing their seat through failure to attend a meeting as a result of 

the coronavirus outbreak it is necessary for the Council to agree an extension of the six-

month rule. The end date for the extension is proposed as 30 September 2020. This would 

give Members several opportunities to attend virtual meetings before they would cease to 

hold office.  

22



 

 
 

5 Financial Implications  

5.1 This report has no financial implications.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

6 Legal and Governance Implications  

6.1 Legal and governance implications are set out in the report.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

7 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

7.1 This report has no equality or safeguarding implications. 

8 Risk and Mitigation 

8.1 Risk has been considered in the preparation of this report and no significant high risks 

have been identified.  

9 Community Safety Implications  

9.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report. 

10 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

10.1 Taking advantage of provisions to enable virtual meetings provides a positive carbon 

impact because of the reduction in travel required by Members to attend meetings. 

11 Background Papers 

11.1 S.85 of the Local Government Act 1972: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/85  

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Previously Considered by: Not applicable  

Final Decision date   14 May 2020 

 

23

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/85


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Council 
14 May 2020 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 
 
Councillor Linda Wootten 

         
 Chairman of the Constitution 

Committee 
 

 

Amendments to the Constitution: Provisions to provide 
clarity and accountability in emergency scenarios 

Proposed amendments to the Council’s Constitution to provide clarity and improve provision for 
the Council to continue functioning in any future emergency situation. 

 

Report Author 

Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 

 
01476 406152 

 j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 30 April 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 5 May 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Chairman of the 
Constitution Committee 

5 May 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Council approves the following additions to its 
Constitution 

a) Powers of the Chief Executive  

Add at Article 16, Functions of the Chief Executive: 

25

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

Emergency powers 

In an emergency, the Chief Executive (and any officer(s) authorised by the Chief 
Executive) is authorised to take any and / all action(s) he/she considers appropriate to 
protect and / or further the best interests of the Council, the district of South Kesteven 
and / or the public, subject to: 

i) Consultation with the Leader of the Council or in his / her absence the 
Deputy Leader and any appropriate member of the Cabinet 

ii) A report of the action taken and the reasons behind it being presented to 
the next meeting of the Cabinet, the Council or the relevant Committee 

This includes exercising the Council’s powers under Section 138 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 to incur expenditure (regardless of whether the value 
would equate to a key decision) and to suspend aspects of business as usual to 
enable the Council to comply with its duties under the Civil Contingencies Act. 

If the Chief Executive is unwell, unobtainable or unable to act or where there is no 
Chief Executive in post, a Strategic Director may act in their absence. 

b) Contingency arrangements in the absence of the Leader of the Council 

To add a new section at Article 8.3: 

(c) Deputy Leader 

The Deputy Leader will be a Councillor who is appointed to the position by 
the Leader of the Council.   

o Where a vacancy occurs in the office of Deputy Leader, the Leader 
must appoint another person in his or her place 

o If for any reason the Leader is unable to act or the office of Leader 
is vacant, the Deputy Leader will act in his or her place until a new 
Leader can be elected by Council 

o If for any reason the Leader is unable to act or the office of Leader 
is vacant, and the Deputy Leader is unable to act or the office of 
Deputy Leader is vacant, the Cabinet must act in the Leader’s 
place, or arrange for a Cabinet Member to act in his or her place 
until a new Leader can be elected 

c) Postponement of meetings 

to be added at Article 4 of the Constitution between Article 4.43 (Extraordinary 
meetings) and Article 4.5 (Appointment of Substitute Members of Committees 
and Sub-Committees) 

Postponement of meetings (full Council) 

Where exceptional circumstances apply and the Chairman of the Council, 
following consultation with the Vice-Chairman of the Council and the Chief 
Executive and the Leaders of the political groups, considers that attendance at a 
convened meeting of the full Council would involve health and safety issues (e.g. 
pandemic, civil emergency, inclement weather, etc) the Chairman of the Council 
may postpone the meeting. Following postponement, notification must 
immediately be given to all members of the Council and to the press and notice of 
the postponement must be posted at the Council Offices and on the Council’s 
website. Where a meeting is postponed, no less than five clear working days’ 
notice (or such other period as required by law) shall be given of the new date for 
the meeting. 

26



 
 

To be added at each committee article: 

Postponement of meetings (committees) 

Where exceptional circumstances apply and the Chairman of the Committee, 
following consultation with the Vice-Chairman of the Committee and the Chief 
Executive, or any officer so nominated by them, considers that attendance at a 
convened meeting of the Committee would involve health and safety issues (e.g. 
pandemic, civil emergency, inclement weather, etc.) the Chairman of that 
Committee may postpone the meeting. Following postponement, notification must 
immediately be given to all members of the Council and to the press and notice of 
the postponement must be posted at the Council Offices and on the Council’s 
website. Where a meeting is postponed, no less than five clear working days’ 
notice (or such other period as required by law) shall be given of the new date for 
the meeting. 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 In March 2020 restrictions associated with the Coronavirus pandemic affected the way in 

which the Council was able to make decisions. Social distancing and restrictions on 

movement meant that meetings were not able to go ahead in the normal way. At the start 

of the pandemic there was no provision within legislation to enable remote meetings.  

1.2 To ensure that Executive decision-making could continue, the Leader of the Council 

reviewed his Scheme of Delegation. This change saw Cabinet Members retain 

responsibility for their remits and non-key decisions but reserved the making of Key 

Decisions to the Leader of the Council, rather than Cabinet Members sitting as a 

collective. The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012 includes provisions that enable Executive 

decisions to be taken as a matter of urgency. 

1.3 As the situation progressed, the Council considered the guidance provided by professional 

bodies regarding arrangements that could be put in place to allow decision-making to 

continue. It became clear that the Council’s Constitution was silent on emergency 

provisions as well as some contingency arrangements.  

1.4 The extent of the powers of the Chief Executive are not clearly stipulated in the Council’s 

Constitution. 

1.5 There is no provision of law to cancel meetings once the summons has been issued but it 

is an acceptable practice to postpone them. When the COVID-19 restrictions came into 

effect, the summons had been issued for meetings of the Employment Committee and the 

Governance and Audit Committee. These meetings were postponed but there is no clear 

direction in the Council’s Constitution about the process that should be followed and who 

should be consulted. Adding a provision setting out arrangements for the postponement of 

meetings would also provide clarity around a process that could be followed during period 

of severe, inclement weather when travel is not safe. 

1.6 The pandemic also raised questions around contingencies including who could act if the 

Leader was unable to act. In some circumstances it may be possible to control this 

through the Leader’s Scheme of Delegation, however, should the Leader become 

suddenly indisposed these issues could not be addressed. 

 

 

27



 
 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1  The Chairman of the Constitution Committee has been consulted in the preparation of this 

report and is supportive of the proposals.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The Council could choose not to amend its Constitution however this would not provide 

the clarity that would assist at the time of an emergency incident. 

4 Preferred Option 

Powers of the Chief Executive 

4.1 The extent of the powers of the Chief Executive would benefit from being made more 

explicit. It is therefore proposed the following addition to Article 16 of the Council’s 

Constitution under the functions of the Chief Executive: 

Emergency powers 

In an emergency, the Chief Executive (and any officer(s) authorised by the Chief 

Executive) is authorised to take any and / all action(s) he/she considers appropriate to 

protect and / or further the best interests of the Council, the district of South Kesteven and 

/ or the public, subject to: 

a) Consultation with the Leader of the Council or in his / her absence the Deputy 
Leader and any appropriate member of the Cabinet 

b) A report of the action taken and the reasons behind it being presented to the next 
meeting of the Cabinet, the Council or the relevant Committee 

This includes exercising the Council’s powers under Section 138 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to incur expenditure (regardless of whether the value would equate to a key 
decision) and to suspend aspects of business as usual to enable the Council to comply 
with its duties under the Civil Contingencies Act. 

If the Chief Executive is unwell, unobtainable or unable to act or where there is no Chief 
Executive in post, a Strategic Director may act in their absence. In the absence of a 
Strategic Director, any Director may act. 

Contingency arrangements in the absence of the Leader of the Council 

4.2 The Leader of the Council has appointed a Deputy Leader, who is able to act in his 

absence or where he is unable to act. As the Deputy Leader of the Council derives their 

authority from the Leader, the line of succession is not clear should the Leader cease to 

hold office. It is therefore proposed a new section is added at Article 8.3: 

(c) Deputy Leader 

The Deputy Leader will be a Councillor who is appointed to the position by the 

Leader of the Council.   

o Where a vacancy occurs in the office of Deputy Leader, the Leader must 
appoint another person in his or her place 

o If for any reason the Leader is unable to act or the office of Leader is vacant, the 
Deputy Leader will act in his or her place until a new Leader can be elected by 
Council 

o If for any reason the Leader is unable to act or the office of Leader is vacant, 
and the Deputy Leader is unable to act or the office of Deputy Leader is vacant, 

28



 
 

the Cabinet must act in the Leader’s place, or arrange for a Cabinet Member to 
act in his or her place until a new Leader can be elected 

Postponement of meetings 

4.3 There is no clear direction in the Constitution about the postponement of meetings in the 

event of an emergency. To provide some structure it is therefore proposed that the 

following should be added: 

Postponement of meetings (full Council) [to be added at Article 4 of the Constitution 

between Article 4.43 (Extraordinary meetings) and Article 4.5 (Appointment of Substitute 

Members of Committees and Sub-Committees)] 

Where exceptional circumstances apply and the Chairman of the Council, following 

consultation with the Vice-Chairman of the Council and the Chief Executive and the 

Leaders of the political groups, considers that attendance at a convened meeting of the 

full Council would involve health and safety issues (e.g. pandemic, civil emergency, 

inclement weather, etc) the Chairman of the Council may postpone the meeting. Following 

postponement, notification must immediately be given to all members of the Council and 

to the press and notice of the postponement must be posted at the Council Offices and on 

the Council’s website. Where a meeting is postponed, no less than five clear working 

days’ notice (or such other period as required by law) shall be given of the new date for 

the meeting.  

Postponement of meetings (committees) [to be added at each committee article] 

Where exceptional circumstances apply and the Chairman of the Committee, following 

consultation with the Vice-Chairman of the Committee and the Chief Executive, or any 

officer so nominated by them, considers that attendance at a convened meeting of the 

Committee would involve health and safety issues (e.g. pandemic, civil emergency, 

inclement weather, etc.) the Chairman of that Committee may postpone the meeting. 

Following postponement, notification must immediately be given to all members of the 

Council and to the press and notice of the postponement must be posted at the Council 

Offices and on the Council’s website. Where a meeting is postponed, no less than five 

clear working days’ notice (or such other period as required by law) shall be given of the 

new date for the meeting. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The proposed amendments are based on provisions that exist in the constitutions of other 

local authorities, including South Holland, Rutland, North Kesteven, Cherwell and South 

Northants, Mansfield, Nottinghamshire, Camden, Wandsworth, Manchester and 

Nottingham) and adapted to suit the existing working arrangements used by the Council. 

To add them to South Kesteven’s Constitution would provide clarity around who has 

authority to act and improve the response time following an emergency to reach a position 

where a range of decisions could be made. Specific constitutional provision would also 

assist transparency for decision-makers, the wider membership of the Council and 

members of the public about who may do what under such circumstances.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 If agreed, the new provisions will be added to the Council’s Constitution. 

 

 

29



 
 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no specific financial comments arising from this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no further legal and governance implications to those raised within the report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 There are no equality and safeguarding implications arising from this report. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 Risk has been considered in the preparation of the report. The proposals included within it 

are designed to ensure that the Council can continue to function in the event of an 

emergency. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 This report has no carbon impact. 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Previously Considered by: Not applicable 

Final Decision date   14 May 2020 

 

30



 

 

 

Council 
14 May 2020 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Decisions taken during COVID-19 response period 
including decisions made under General Exception 
and Special Urgency arrangements 

This report summarises Key Decisions that have been made under General Exception and 
Special urgency provisions and officer delegated decisions taken by the Chief Executive as part of 
the Council’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

 

Report Author 

Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 

 
01476 406152 

 j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 30 April 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 5 May 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 5 May 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. That Council notes the content of the report. 

31

Agenda Item 8a

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 At the Cabinet meeting held on 17 March 2020 when COVID-19 restrictions were 

heightening, the Leader of the Council announced the suspension of all Council and 

Committee meetings, including meetings of the Cabinet.  

1.2 So that Executive decision-making could continue while meetings were suspended, the 

Leader revised his scheme of delegation (Appendix 1). The revisions saw him take 

responsibility for any Key Decisions that needed to be made during the response period. 

Other Cabinet Members retained their existing remits and responsibility for making any 

non-key decisions. 

1.3 Where decisions need to be made and it is not possible to give the statutory notice that 

would ordinarily be required, the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 

and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 has alternative procedures that 

the Council can follow. These procedures are General Exception and Special Urgency. 

1.4 All the decisions that have been made under these arrangements have been published on 

the Council’s website. To make it easier to find those decisions, they are listed on a new 

webpage, which incorporates links to the detail of the decision.  

1.5 Each sub-heading within this report setting out the name of the decision is a hyperlink to 

the relevant published documents. 

 

2 General Exception 

2.1 The General Exception procedure is used where a matter is likely to be a Key Decision 

that has not been included on the Forward Plan and where it is impracticable to defer the 

decision until it has been included in the next Forward Plan and 28 days have elapsed.  

2.2 Before a decision is made under the General Exception Rule, the Chairman of the relevant 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee must be informed in writing (if there is no such person 

then each member of the Committee must be notified in writing). The Monitoring Officer 

must publish that notice. Five days after that notice has been served on the Chairman (or 

Committee Members in the Chairman’s absence) and its publication, the decision may be 

made. Decisions made under the General Exception rule are eligible for call-in. 

2.3 During the COVID-19 response period, two decisions have been made under the General 

Exception rule.  

 

Gravity Fields Festival 2020 (Appendix 2) 

2.4 A Key Decision was made on 9 April 2020 to postpone Gravity Fields 2020 until 2022. The 

decision came into effect on 23 April 2020. The decision was made using the General 

Exception procedure because, by the time 28 days had passed, the programme planning 

would have reached the formative stage, including confirmation of contracts and applying 

for road closure orders.  

 

Council Tax hardship fund (Appendix 3) 

2.5 A Key Decision will be made on 11 May 2020 by the Leader of the Council setting out how 

South Kesteven District Council will distribute the Council Tax Hardship Funding provided 

by Government. The decision is being made under the General Exception procedure 

32

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=1068
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27126


 

 
 

because working age claimants of Council Tax support would remain liable for the 

amounts listed on their bills and would be obligated to make payments against erroneous 

amounts, putting them at risk of experiencing greater financial hardship. This decision will 

be subject to call-in and is due to come into effect on Tuesday 19 May 2020. 

 

3 Special Urgency 

3.1 Where a decision is urgent and the General Exception Rule cannot be followed because 

of the date by which a decision must be taken, the Special Urgency procedure is available. 

By using Special Urgency provisions, a decision may be made and implemented on the 

same day as it removes the requirement to give five working days’ notice in advance of 

the decision being made and the five working day call-in period following the publication of 

the decision. 

3.2 To enable the decision to be made using Special Urgency arrangements, agreement must 

be sought in writing from the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

The communication must set out why the decision cannot reasonably be deferred. In the 

absence of the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, agreement 

should be sought from the Chairman of the Council, or in their absence, the Vice-

Chairman of the Council.  

3.3 Permission is also sought from the Chairman of the Council to suspend call-in for urgent 

decisions where the call-in process would prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interest. 

In the absence of the Chairman of the Council, consent is sought from the Vice-Chairman 

and in her absence from the Head of Paid Service or, in her absence, her nominee.   

3.4 Once written agreement has been received confirming that the decision may be made 

under these provisions, the decision-maker may proceed. A notice must be published 

setting out why the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be delayed. Where decisions 

are taken under these arrangements, they must be reported to Council. Six decisions have 

been made under special urgency provisions. 

 

Ward Member Grant Scheme (Appendix 4) 

3.5 On 23 March 2020 the Leader of the Council took a decision to increase the Ward 

Member grant scheme allowance from £500 for each member to £1,000 with effect from 

23 March 2020. This recognised the importance of Councillors’ civic and community roles 

during periods of civil emergency and Members’ unique knowledge of groups operating in 

their local area to support that community during the pandemic. 

3.6 The decision was made under special urgency provisions to ensure arrangements were in 

place to support local communities as early as possible and reflect the speed with which 

the landscape was changing. 

 

Temporary Amendments to the South Kesteven District Council Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (Appendix 5) 

3.7 Temporary amendments were made to the South Kesteven District Council Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy, by way of a decision made on 24 March 2020. 

3.8 The decision suspended new applications for hackney carriage and private hire driver 

licences until further notice. It also altered the renewal process for existing hackney 

33

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27041
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27042
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27042


 

 
 

carriage and private hire driver licences to allow self-certification of medical fitness and 

any new cautions or convictions. Again, this alteration would be in place until further 

notice. The temporary policy change saw the replacement of the 6-monthly vehicle 

compliance check by a newly issued MOT certificate where approved had closed and it 

was not possible for the licence holder to obtain a compliance check. The final element of 

the decision granted delegated authority to the Chief Executive in consultation with the 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations to make further amendments to the 

policy as necessary during the COVID-19 response period.  

3.9 The decision was taken as a matter of special urgency to support the continued provision 

of the licensing function during the COVID-19 pandemic and the speed with which matters 

were evolving, including the anticipated extent of the virus. 

 

Deferral of rental income for specific organisations occupying Council 

commercial premises (Appendix 6) 

3.10 In response to the pandemic, the Council’s Arts Centres were closed on 17 March 2020. 

These facilities are home to a range of community groups, small businesses and catering 

franchises. The financial vulnerability and difficulties of these groups and businesses to 

meet financial obligations while not trading or providing community services led to a 

decision being made on 25 March 2020 to suspend the payment of rent due to the Council 

by specific occupiers of these premises. 

3.11 It was agreed that the decision should be taken under urgency provisions because of the 

date from which the Arts Centres were closed and the date by which payment was due 

from these users (1 April 2020). 

 

Remuneration of street scene officers during the COVID-19 outbreak 

(Appendix 7) 

3.12 Refuse and recycling has been identified as a critical service for the Council and is an 

important service in relation to promoting public health. There is recognition that, by 

continuing to work, those teams delivering the service are putting themselves and their 

families at greater risk of catching the virus. A decision was made on 30 March 2020 to 

make a £50 a week bonus payment (pro rata) for staff within the Street Scene Team 

during the COVID-19 response period; this would also be paid on a pro rata basis to any 

additional staff seconded to the service. The report also changed the overtime rate 

payable to staff in that team during the response period. 

3.13 The speed with which the environment was changing and the pressures and expectations 

that were being placed on the street scene team meant that the decision was taken as a 

matter of urgency.  

 

Refuse and recycling operational policies (Appendix 8) 

3.14 This Key Decision, which was taken by the Leader of the Council on 31 March 2020, 

made temporary amendments to the Council’s ‘Refuse and Recycling Collection – 

operational polices’ as part of the COVID-19 pandemic response to protect the safety of 

the waste crews and the public as well as ensuring the continued delivery of an essential 

public service. The changes related to: 

• Collection arrangements 

34

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27043
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27043
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27047
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27049


 

 
 

• Presentation of waste 

• Frequency of collections (recycling and general waste) 

• Green waste 

• Missed bins 

• Bulky household waste 

3.15 Delegated authority was also given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet 

Member for Commercial and Operations, to make further amendments and/or temporary 

suspensions to the policy as necessary during the COVID-19 response period. 

3.16 Agreement was received that this decision should be determined under the special 

urgency procedure because the service had been identified as critical and the speed with 

which the landscape was changing meant the Council needed arrangements in place so it 

could react quickly and ensure the service could continue to be delivered. 

 

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (Appendix 9) 

3.17 As part of the national response to the pandemic, the Government has implemented a job 

retention scheme that allows employers to furlough members of their staff. Under the 

scheme employers continue to pay their staff in the normal way and claim back the lower 

of 80% or £2,500 per month, plus employers’ national insurance contributions and 

minimum automatic enrolment employer pension contributions, which is 3% of salary. 

There is a legal requirement to pay 80% of salary with employer discretion on whether to 

top up the remaining 20%.  

3.18 A decision that was made on 22 April 2020 by the Leader of the Council, accepted that the 

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme may be suitable for discrete staff groups, in 

exceptional circumstances, as set out below: 

a) Council accepts that furloughing of Council staff is generally not appropriate for staff 
funded directly through public funds 

b) Where staff are not able to carry out their usual work, all employers in the public 
sector should make every effort to redeploy employees to assist with the 
Government’s response. This could include redeployment within the current 
organisation, or to other areas of the public sector 

c) Furloughing may be appropriate in exceptional cases for staff who are not able to 
be redeployed elsewhere and whose funding comes from private funds, such as 
fees and charges 

d) Where staff are furloughed, the Council will top up the government’s scheme so 
that staff will not experience a reduction in salary income or pension contributions 

3.19 The decision also included a delegation to the Chief Executive to furlough staff in 

accordance with the agreed principles, in consultation with the Leader of the Council. Any 

such decision would be reported to Council. 

3.20 This decision was made under special urgency provisions because of the potential 

financial impact to the Council of delaying the decision, and in order to begin consulting 

with staff members who are likely to be affected, giving them some certainty and 

confidence about their income and the security of their role. 

 

35

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27074


 

 
 

4 Officer Delegated Decisions – Chief Executive 

4.1 The Chief Executive is able to take action regarding operational procedures to ensure the 

continued delivery of service. There are also specific decisions that are delegated to the 

Chief Executive. 

4.2 During the COVID-19 response period four decisions have been made by the Chief 

Executive.  

 

Suspension of collection and enforcement for South Kesteven District 

Council’s pay and display car parks (Appendix 10) 

4.3 On 27 March 2020, the Chief Executive made a decision to suspend car parking collection 

and enforcement for the Council’s pay and display car parks until 30 June 2020 and to 

extend the life of any season tickets by the equivalent time for which collection and 

enforcement is suspended. The duration of the suspension is to be kept under review. 

 

Furlough of staff from East Midlands Building Control (Appendix 11) 

4.4 Following reductions in service-demand and fee income, a decision was made by the 

Chief Executive on 24 April 2020 to furlough 13 staff from East Midlands Building Control. 

The selection of staff for furloughing was based on an assessment of their knowledge, 

skills and experience. Three surveyors and two business support officers were retained to 

carry out the statutory functions undertaken by the service as well as maintaining the 

commercial arm of the partnership.  

 

Temporary Amendment to the South Kesteven District Council Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (Vehicle Age) (Appendix 12) 

4.5 On 30 April 2020 the Chief Executive agreed to the temporary revision of the Council’s 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy to temporarily increase the age limit 

for a vehicle to continue to be licenced as a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle 

(provided all other conditions are met) from 10 years to 11 years for licence renewals due 

up to and including 31 December 2020 or until restrictions relating to car sales are lifted, 

whichever is the sooner.  

 

Meeting procedures during the COVID-19 restriction period (Appendix 13) 

4.6 The Chief Executive took a decision on 1 May 2020 to set out how the Council has 

adopted the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of 

Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 

2020 in its virtual meeting procedures. The decision set out that the Council would hold 

virtual meetings of the Council and other committees, that Skype for Business would be 

used as the preferred application for virtual meetings and it approved adapted meeting 

protocols for Council and Planning Committee. 

 

5 Officer Delegated Decisions 

5.1 Officers other than the Chief Executive may make decisions within the parameters 

provided by the Officer Scheme of Delegation. A decision was made by the Head of 

36

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27046&Opt=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27046&Opt=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?XXR=0&&DR=17%2f04%2f2020-01%2f05%2f2020&ACT=Find&RP=0&K=0&V=0&DM=655O&HD=0&DS=0&Next=true&NOW=300420183248&META=mgdelegateddecisions
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IssueId=27123&OptionNum=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IssueId=27123&OptionNum=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27129&Opt=0


 

 
 

Organisational Development, which related to the Council’s Coronavirus response; details 

are set out below for Members’ information. 

 

Employee Assistance Programme (Appendix 14) 

5.2 On 1 April 2020 the Head of Organisational took an officer delegated decision to extend 

the Employee Assistance Programme from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 so that it would 

be available to Members and the close family of Members and officers. There is 

recognition that the pandemic could have a negative impact on mental health and cause 

stress and anxiety. The Employee Assistance Programme provides access to telephone 

support and advice, and fully qualified counsellors should it be necessary.  

 

6 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

6.1 Where decisions are taken under urgency procedures, there is a requirement to report 

these to Council. At the outset of the response period, the Leader also committed to 

reporting any decisions made by the Chief Executive, to ensure transparency. 

 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no financial implications arising as a result of this covering report.  The specific 

financial implications will be referenced in each individual report as appropriate.  There will 

be a requirement for Council to consider an amended Budget Framework later in the year 

that incorporates these decisions and other budget areas affected by the current situation. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 Legal and Governance implications are captured within the report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 There are no equality and safeguarding implications arising as a result of this report. 

Where relevant, an equality analysis has been completed in conjunction with a decision 

report. 

 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 Risk was considered in the preparation of this report and no high risks were identified.  

 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report.  

 

 

 

37

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27055&Opt=0


 

 
 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 This report has no climate impact. The climate impact of each decision referred to here 

are examined in their respective reports. 

 

13 Background Papers 

13.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made 

  

14 Appendices 

14.1 Appendix 1: Scheme of Delegation – COVID-19 response period 

14.2 Appendix 2: Gravity Fields Festival 2020 (Key Decision) 

14.3 Appendix 3: Council Tax Hardship Fund (Key Decision) 

14.4 Appendix 4: Ward Member Grant Scheme (Key Decision) 

14.5 Appendix 5: Temporary amendments to the South Kesteven District Council Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (Key Decision) 

14.6 Appendix 6: Deferral of rental income for specific organisations occupying Council 

commercial premises (Key Decision) 

14.7 Appendix 7: Remuneration of street scene officers during the COVID-19 outbreak (Key 

Decision) 

14.8 Appendix 8: Refuse and recycling operational policies (Key Decision) 

14.9 Appendix 9: Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (Key Decision) 

14.10 Appendix 10: Suspension of collection and enforcement for South Kesteven District 

Council’s pay and display car parks (officer delegated decision) 

14.11 Appendix 11: Furlough of staff from East Midlands Building Control (officer delegated 

decision) 

14.12 Appendix 12: Temporary amendment to the South Kesteven District Council Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (Vehicle Age) (officer delegated decision) 

14.13 Appendix 13: Meeting procedures during the COVID-19 restriction period (officer 

delegated decision) 

14.14 Appendix 14: Employee Assistance Programme (officer delegated decision) 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Previously Considered by: Not applicable 

Final Decision date   14 May 2020 

 

38

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made


 

 

                                                                            

CABINET STRUCTURE AND DELEGATIONS 
 

This is the Leader of the Council’s Scheme of Delegation revised and issued on 18 March 2020 in 

accordance with Article 8 of the Council’s Constitution. This scheme of delegation will be in operation 

during the Council’s Covid 19 contingency planning arrangements and will be reviewed regularly. 

 

Meetings of the Cabinet will not take place for the foreseeable future. 

Key decisions that would have been made by Cabinet will be made by the Leader of the Council.  

Non key decisions will continue to be made by the appropriate Cabinet member, in accordance with 

their areas of responsibility below. 

  

 

Leader of the Council – Councillor Kelham Cooke 
The Chairman of the Cabinet and responsible for organisational vision and objectives and key 
strategic direction.  Representing the Council on key, high level and strategic joint working and 
partnership arrangements between public sector partners e.g. LEP.  
 
Responsibility for all key decisions that would have been taken by the Cabinet.   
 
Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Transformation. This role is responsible for key public-
private strategic commercial ventures, partnerships and projects and has an overarching cross 
cutting role that operates across service areas with direct accountability for services underpinning 
organisational effectiveness namely, driving commerciality and legal and assets. 
 
Remit: 

• Business Transformation 
• Governance & Data Protection 
• Legal & Democratic Services 

• Communications 
• Public-private strategic commercial ventures, partnerships and projects 

• HR and organisational development 

• Strategic lead for Emergency Planning  

• Special development projects  

• Property and property services 

• Asset Management Strategy (non HRA) 

• Parish and Town Council Liaison  

 

  

39

Appendix 1



 

2 
 

Deputy Leader of the Council – Councillor Barry Dobson 
The Vice Chairman of the Cabinet and Cabinet Member for Growth & Leisure.  
Maximise and develop opportunities for indigenous and inward investment across the District, 
developing Grantham as a leading sub regional centre. Development of commercial and infrastructure 
delivery schemes. Support the delivery of strategic business investments in Grantham, Stamford, 
Bourne and the Deepings. Adopting a key focus on revitalising town centres, promoting the 
distinctiveness of 4 market towns, developing leisure destinations that serve the local community and 
attract shoppers and visitors from a wider area. Supporting business led town centre initiatives and 
creation of vibrant, enhanced market offer across the four towns.   Facilitate close working with the 
private sector on potential joint venture/partnership schemes in partnership with the Leader of the 
Council. Maximise external funding opportunities creating a network of business locations, office floor 
space, and start up and move on space. Liaison with Local Enterprise partnerships regarding funding 
schemes and programmes acting as the Deputy Representative of the Council in the absence of the 
Leader of the Council.  
 
This remit includes responsibility for leisure centres, sports and sports development. The 

development of a business and community skills agenda. 

 
Remit: 

• Agricultural and Rural Economy 

• Business & Enterprise 

• Delivery of strategic retail, housing and industrial developments 

• Economic Strategy 

• Grants & Assistance 

• Inward Investment 

• Leisure Centres 

• Sports and Sports Development  

• Skills  

• Gravitas   

• Town Centre Development and Partnerships 

• InvestSK  
 

  

40



 

3 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Planning – Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing & Planning. The development of new market and affordable housing 
to meet the needs of local communities both in towns and across the rural areas of the district. 
Recognise and support the importance of housing provision and delivery via effective HRA business 
planning and housing strategy.   
 
Remit: 

• Assisted Garden Maintenance Scheme 
• DASH Landlord Accreditation Scheme 
• Empty Homes Assistance 
• Empty Homes Discount 
• Essential Home Repair Assistance 
• Homelessness 
• Housing Management, Improvement and Repairs 

• Disabled Facilities Grant 
• Housing Partnership 
• Landlords Forum 
• Planning and Planning Services 
• Local Plan  
• Neighbourhood Plans 
• Supplementary Planning Documents  

• Conservation 
 

Cabinet Member for Culture & Visitor Economy - Councillor Rosemary 
Trollope-Bellew 
Cabinet Member for Culture. Responsible for Cultural services including the Arts, Cultural Services 
and Heritage. expanding the visitor economy. Develop new tourism products and support close 
working with existing and emerging tourism attractions 
 
Remit: 

• The Arts 
• Cultural Services 
• Heritage 
• Visitor Economy 
• Historic Parks and Gardens 
• Shop Front Designs and Funding 
• Markets and Fairs 
• Street Furniture 

 

  

41



 

4 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources – Councillor Adam Stokes 
Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources. Effective use of financial resources, supporting and 
facilitating the delivery of Council objectives. Ensuring the continued development and review of 
financial governance frameworks, investment policies, forward planning and forecasting. 
Consideration of pooling arrangements, business rate retention models and efficiency plan. Effective 
budget preparation and risk management to enable optimum use of available financial resources. 
 
Remit: 

• Audit and accountability 

• Business Rate Relief 

• Budget preparation and Council tax 

• Charitable Rate Relief 

• Council tax collection 

• Finance and accountancy 

• Fraud investigation 

• Grants and subscriptions 

• Non-Domestic rates 

• Risk management 

• Rural Rate Relief 

• Benefit Claims 

• Procurement 
 

Cabinet Member for Communities – Councillor Annie Mason 
Cabinet Member for Communities. Overview of the prevailing future strategic health agenda and its 
impact on local communities in relation to health and inequalities and future service provision. The 
development, engagement and involvement with local community groups and special projects.  
Overview and development of community cohesion.  Supporting communities to thrive and develop 
and foster community safety/protection initiatives in liaison with key partners e.g. Health, Police and 
other statutory agencies to adapt and encompass fit for purpose, cost effective arrangements to 
respond to increasing demand as a result of forecast population growth and factors.    Engagement 
and involvement with local community groups and positive and proactive Parish and Town Council 
liaison.   
 

Remit: 

• Anti-social behaviour 

• Community Cohesion 

• Community Funding & Volunteering  

• Community Right to Bid  

• Community Safety and Local Policing  

• Customer Services 

• Equalities and Diversity 

• Health & Wellbeing 

• Safeguarding 
 

  

42



 

5 
 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations – Councillor Dr Peter 
Moseley 
Developing and maintaining a healthy, clean environment within South Kesteven.  Development of 
effective environmental strategies and policies to benefit local communities. Overview of Waste 
collection and recycling initiatives including representation on the countywide Strategic Waste 
Partnership. Implement and review key environmental protection strategies and programmes. 
Ensure communities are safe clean and healthy via effective street cleansing operations and 
licensing policies. 
 
Developing strategies and policies for car parking, street parking permits and historic parks and 
gardens. 
 
Business continuity and emergency planning.  Explore, evaluate and identify commercially viable 
opportunities across the remit where appropriate.   It also has responsibility for the Council’s 
information technology across all areas of business. 
 
Remit: 

• Air Quality 

• Alcohol, entertainment and leisure licensing 

• Allotments 

• Animal Welfare licensing 

• Building Control 

• Business Continuity and Emergency Planning  

• Business Trade & Licensing 

• Car Parks 

• CCTV 

• Commercial, Industrial and Clinical Waste Collection and Management 

• Dog breeding & control orders 

• Domestic Waste & Recycling Management 

• Energy Efficiency 

• Estate and Grounds Maintenance 

• Flooding 

• Food Hygiene and Safety 

• Gambling & Lotteries licensing 

• Health & Safety 

• Information Technology 

• Internet of Things and Digital Connectivity – Digital Infrastructure   

• Noise 

• Public Conveniences 

• Renewable Energy 

• Scrap Metal Dealers 

• Soft Facilities Management 

• Street Lighting 

• Street Parking Permits 

• Street Services and Green Open Space Management 

• Tattoo, licensing and hygiene rating system 

• Taxi & private vehicle, driver and operator licensing 

• Wild animal licences 

• EnvironmentSK  

 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



Key Decision
1 April 2020

Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

Gravity Fields Festival 2020
This report considers options to postpone Gravity Fields Festival 2020, in the light of the current 
Covid-19 Pandemic. 

Report Author

Paul Thomas, Strategic Director for Growth

01476 406162

p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet Member 
consulted

Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew 
(Cabinet Member for Culture and the 
Visitor Economy) 

1 April 2020

Approved for circulation Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of 
the Council 1 April 2020

Public or Exempt Public

Reasons for exemption Not applicable

Conflicts of interest None

Recommendation to decision-maker

1. To postpone Gravity Fields Festival 2020 until 2022.

45

Appendix 2

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 South Kesteven District Council’s Gravity Fields Festival is a biennial event that celebrates 

the life and works of Sir Isaac Newton. It started in 2012 and its 2018 event brought 
economic benefit of circa £950,000 with over 69,000 attendees, including 15,000 
gathering on St Peter’s Hill for the Saturday night finale. 

1.2 The Coronavirus (covid-19) pandemic has led to unprecedented restrictions on public 
gatherings and events and widescale closure of public buildings in order to reduce the 
spread of the virus. On March 23rd, Government brought in stricter rules to further-limit 
public contact. 

1.3 This report first considers the current status of Gravity Fields 2020 in respect of the 
financial commitment to date; planning activities and statutory responsibilities; and our 
relationship with external funders of the festival. 

1.4 Three options are then considered: to continue planning for the festival, to postpone the 
festival until 2021, or to postpone to 2022.

1.5 Financial Commitment to Date

1.6 The Gravity Fields Festival budget is £249,500. This is made up of Council funding of 
£140,000 and Arts Council England bid-funding of £80,000. Sponsorship and Ticket 
Income make up the difference. 

1.7 Planning for the Gravity Fields Festival starts many months in advance, and discussions 
with artists and performers are currently at a variety of stages. 

1.8 The Council is contractually committed to £15,100 of contracted fees.

1.9 In addition, there are a number of artists under verbal agreements and the team had been 
in the process of preparing written agreements for the full programme of artists. There 
may be legal obligations to meet some of these commitments but the extent of this is as 
yet unclear. The numbers below are a best-estimate of the Council’s current exposure.

1.10 Costs have also been incurred on legacy and pre-festival activities. 

1.11 Together, these bring the Council’s current cost exposure to an estimated £37,500:

Signed contracts £15,100 

Verbal Commitments £13,750 

Spend to date £8,600

Current Costs exposure £37,500
1.12 Future Planning and Statutory Steps

1.13 Festival Planning activities are currently on-hold as the project is at a crucial stage of 
confirming bookings and continuing to progress the project would increase the Council’s 
financial commitment.

1.14 Road closure notices are a key part of the planning process, and applications will need to 
be submitted by the end of April in order to be in place for the September festival. 

1.15 External Funding

1.16 The Council submitted a bid for just under £80,000 to Arts Council England (ACE) in 
January 2020. A decision on the funding was received on 26th March:

46



1.17 “Due to the unfolding situation with Coronavirus / Covid 19 we’re sorry to have to tell you 
that we are not able to progress your current application any further. We’ve made the 
difficult decision to suspend the National Lottery Project Grants, Developing Your Creative 
Practice and Grassroots Music funding programmes. We believe this is the right thing to 
do to protect practitioners, participants and audiences, and it will allow us to focus on 
providing emergency financial support for the cultural and creative sector. The investment 
we would have made to these funds has been redirected to form part of our emergency 
funding package in response to Covid-19. Details of the new support funds can be found 
on our website and we will update the website when we are ready to re-open National 
Lottery Project Grants, Grassroots Music and Developing Your Creative Practice in the 
future months. We realise this will be a disappointment and hope you will understand why 
we have made this decision. Thank you for your application, take care of yourselves and 
your communities.”

1.18 The absence of Arts Council England funding will impact significantly on the programme of 
events and performances that are able to be staged.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The project team has been in close contact with the programmed artists for Gravity Fields 

Festival 2020. The majority of the artists are understanding of the current situation and 
have remarked that other festivals are facing the same kind of challenges. 

2.2 The Chairman of the Culture and Visitor Economy has been notified about the decision-
makers intention to take this decision under the General Exception provisions in the 
Council’s Constitution. These provisions are being used because 28-days prior notification 
cannot be given via the Council’s Forward Plan. To wait for the next plan to be published 
and the passing of 28 days would mean programme planning would reach the formative 
stage, including confirmation of contracts and applying for road closure orders.

2.3 The Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy has also been consulted and 
expressed her support for the recommendation. 

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 OPTION 1: To continue planning for Gravity Fields Festival 2020

3.2 Finance: The festival budget is reliant on Box Office takings and sponsorship. Both areas 
will undoubtedly be impacted adversely due to COVID-19. 

3.3 Planning: If planning were to continue for the staging of Gravity Fields in September, the 
team would not look to book more acts/venues. It may even be that a reduced schedule 
would need to be considered. The current budget is reliant on Box Office takings and 
sponsorship. Both areas will undoubtedly be impacted adversely due to COVID-19. 

3.4 It should also be noted that there is no guarantee that restrictions on movement and 
gatherings will have been lifted by the time the festival is scheduled to take place. This 
means that whilst planning for Gravity Fields 2020 will continue under this option, it does 
so ‘at risk’. 

3.5 External Funding: The lack of Arts Council funding will impact significantly on the scale of 
event that is able to be delivered. Further work would be required to ascertain if the 
Council’s budget alone would be enough to support the festival.

47



3.6 OPTION 2: To postpone the Gravity Fields Festival until 2021

3.7 Finance: Whilst it is possible that the promise of a Gravity Fields Festival in 2021 might aid 
negotiations with contracted artists; without full consideration of the 2021 programme and 
available budgets (post-Covid-19) it is not currently possible to offer anything concrete. It 
should not, therefore, be assumed that staging the festival in 2021 would limit the 
Council’s costs exposure in 2020.

3.8 Planning: Stamford Georgian Festival is scheduled to take place in September 2021, 
which requires a significant amount of planning. It is unrealistic to expect the team to be 
able to deliver two events of the scale of Stamford Georgian and Gravity Fields at the 
same time period. 

3.9 External Funding: It is impossible to predict what level of funding Arts Council England 
would allow the Council to bid for to stage Gravity Fields in 2021. Their statement in para 
1.17 above does not provide a timescale for when the National Lottery Grants will re-open. 
A 2021 festival would therefore need to be planned on the basis of it running on just the 
Council’s Festival budget.   

3.10 OPTION 3: To postpone Gravity Fields until 2022

3.11 Finance: Preparations for Gravity Fields Festival 2022 would be able to start on the 
‘normal’ cycle of festival planning and delivery. Thus, the festival could be delivered 
against the Council’s agreed budget, and consideration can be given to the prospect of 
achieving sponsorship and likely ticket sales. It is unlikely that the promise of a 
replacement booking for Gravity Fields 2022 would aid negotiations with contracted artists. 

3.12 Planning: Holding the festival in 2022 would continue the biennial approach, and it is not 
anticipated that resources will over-stretched.

3.13 External Funding: The availability of Arts Council England Funding for 2022 is unknown, 
but with a longer lead-in time, other funding sources could be investigated.  

4 Preferred Option
4.1 Option 3 is recommended.

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 There is no guarantee that movement and gathering restrictions will be lifted, by 

September 2020, to such an extent that the Gravity Fields Festival 2020 would be able to 
be held. In addition, the absence of Arts Council Funding and likely impact of Covid-19 on 
sponsorship and ticket sales present serious challenges to the finances of the festival. 

5.2 Postponing the festival until 2021 will clash with the Stamford Georgian Festival and, 
being only 15 months away, it is still uncertain to what extent the economy will have 
recovered from Covid-19.

5.3 To hold the festival in 2022 will allow it to fall back into the Council’s biennial festival cycle, 
thus resource planning is well-understood, including the burden on the Council’s finances. 
Planning for 2022 will also allow the Council to gain a better understanding of the 
positioning of the Arts Council and their funding programmes.   

6 Financial Implications 
6.1 The financial implications of the three options are considered in the body of this report. To 

postpone the festival until 2022 would expose the Council to sunk costs of around £37,500 

48



for 2020. However, to move forward with plans for 2020 would expose the Council to even 
greater costs should the festival not be able to proceed.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance

7 Legal and Governance Implications 
7.1 There may be legal implications of cancelling contracts, but such impacts can be mitigated 

by an early and clear decision, enabling artists to look for other work or indeed apply to the 
Government for financial assistance, if appropriate. The current advice from the 
Government’s Chief Medical Adviser is that some form of social distancing will need to 
continue for at least six months.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

8 Equality and Safeguarding implications
8.1 The cancellation of this festival will not negatively impact on customers or performers 

because of any one, or more, protected characteristic. The decision has been taken at a 
time when the safety of our most vulnerable residents is paramount and no financial 
burden will be felt by those already contracted to take part. 

9 Risk and mitigation
9.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks have been 

identified.

10 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

10.1 The planning for Gravity Fields Festival 2020 was carried out before, and in parallel, with 
the Council’s declaration of a Climate Emergency for South Kesteven. To run the festival 
in 2020 would limit opportunities to proactively address climate change, other than to 
consider means of travel by residents and visitors to the festival.

10.2 In planning for Gravity 2022, there are opportunities to consider the relevance of climate 
change to the work of Sir Isaac Newton and other leading scientists. 

Call-in deadline 22 April 2020Report Timeline:

Date decision effective 23 April 2020

Decision: To postpone Gravity Fields Festival 2020 until 2022

Date: 9 April 2020

Decision made by:

In consultation with:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

49



This page is intentionally left blank



Key Decision
27 April 2020

Councillor Kelham Cooke

Leader of the Council 

        

Council Tax – Hardship Fund
Proposed arrangements for the allocation of the Government’s Council Tax Hardship Fund. 

Report Author

Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

 01476 406210

 r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet Member 
consulted

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member 
for Finance and Resources 23 April 2020

Approved for circulation Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of 
the Council 30 April 2020

Public or Exempt Public

Reasons for exemption Not applicable

Conflicts of interest None

Recommendation to decision-maker

1. It is proposed to allocate the Council Tax Hardship Fund in accordance with the 
Government’s guidance and to utilise the remaining grant to respond to any further 
hardship applications during the financial year 2020/21.

51

Appendix 3

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Purpose of the Report

1.1 As part of its response to COVID-19, the Government announced in the Budget on 11 March 
that it would provide local authorities in England with £500m of new grant funding to support 
economically vulnerable people and households in their local area. 

1.2 The expectation is that the majority of the hardship fund will be used to provide council tax 
relief, alongside existing local council tax support schemes.  Guidance notes and a 
comprehensive Q & A has been released by Government on 16th April 2020 and confirmation of 
the grant allocation to authorities was provided.  For South Kesteven District Council, an 
allocation of £924k has been made based on the current working age caseload.

Details

1.3 The guidance makes clear that there is a strong expectation that billing authorities will provide 
all recipients of working age local council tax support (‘LCTS’) during the financial year 2020-21 
with a further reduction in their annual council tax bill of £150, using their discretionary powers 
to reduce the liability of council tax payers outside of their formal LCTS scheme design. 

1.4 Furthermore where a taxpayer’s liability for 2020-21 is, following the application of council tax 
support, less than £150, then their liability would be reduced to nil. Where a taxpayer’s liability 
for 2020-21 is nil, no reduction to the council tax bill will be available. 

1.5 There should be no need for any recipient of LCTS to make a separate claim for a reduction 
under this scheme. The billing authority should assess who is eligible for support from the 
hardship fund and automatically rebill those council taxpayers. 

1.6 Financial modelling has been undertaken within the guidance requirements set out above and 
the following is an analysis of the impact:

Analysis of Balance Number of Working Age 
claimants

Hardship Allocation
(£)

Credit balance 3 0
Nil 2023 0
Up to £150 71 5,483.87
Over 150 2182 327,300.00
Total 4,279 332,783.87

1.7 In summary there are 4,279 active working age claims and 2,253 (52%) will be eligible for 
hardship fund top up.  This will leave a balance of £591k to be utilised in the following order:

 Setting aside an element of the grant to respond to further claimants during the course 
of the financial year in accordance with the guidance requirements

 Further reductions of the eligible claimants referred to above should their residual 
Council tax liability be £50 or less for 20/21 after the £150 has been applied

 Setting aside an element of the grant to respond to claims received that can be 
considered within principles set out in Council’s Discretionary Council Tax Payment 
Policy and the Section 13A Guidance.  Both of these policies allow discretionary 
powers to be used to discount any Council tax outstanding where there is evidence of 
financial hardship. 

52



2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources has been consulted in the preparation of 

this report. 

2.2 This decision is being taken under general exception arrangements set out in the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012. It is therefore necessary to give notice in writing to the Chairman of the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, setting out why the decision cannot wait for 
the publication of the next Forward Plan and the passing of 28-days. 

2.3 The purpose of the decision is to provide for the allocation of funding to working age 
claimants of council tax support, which will reduce their liability for the current year. The 
decision cannot wait for the next Forward Plan to be published and the passing of 28-days 
because claimants, would be liable for the amounts listed on their bills and obligated to 
make payments against erroneous amounts, putting them at risk of experiencing greater 
hardship. 

3 Preferred Option
3.1 The option set out in the report specifically meets all the requirements of the 

Government’s guidance and ensures there will be sufficient grant to meet the anticipated 
increase in hardship cases during the course of the financial year.

4 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
4.1 The recommendation supports an increase in financial support to working age claimants.

5 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
5.1 Following approval of the recommendation the claimants who would directly be impacted 

would be contacted and receive an amended notification letter. 

6 Financial Implications 
6.1 The financial implications are set out in the report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

7 Legal and Governance Implications 
7.1 There are no Legal or Governance implications. The report outlines the underpinning 

principles for use of the fund and expected eligibility criteria for delivery of the support 
package to reduce the council tax liability of individuals in their area using discretionary 
powers under S13A (1) (c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992

Legal Implications reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance

8 Equality and Safeguarding implications
8.1 The Council Tax Support Scheme has been subject to an equality analysis. The 

arrangements for the distribution of the funding have been stipulated by the Government 

9 Risk and mitigation
9.1 Risk has been considered in the preparation an no significant high risks have been 

identified. 

53



10 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

10.1 This decision has no climate impact. 

11 Background papers
11.1 Government guidance https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/council-tax-covid-19-

hardship-fund-2020-to-2021-guidance

12 Appendices
12.1 None

Call-in deadline 18 May 2020Report Timeline:

Date decision effective (subject to call-in) 19 May 2020

Decision: To allocate the Council Tax Hardship Fund in accordance with 
the Government’s guidance and to utilise the remaining grant to 
respond to any further hardship applications during the financial 
year 2020/21.

Date: 11 May 2020

Decision made by:

In consultation with:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

54

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/council-tax-covid-19-hardship-fund-2020-to-2021-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/council-tax-covid-19-hardship-fund-2020-to-2021-guidance


Key Decision
23 March 2020

Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

Ward Member Grant Scheme
This report considers a review of the Ward Member grant scheme and the role it can play to 
support communities during the Covid-19 outbreak.

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Head of Governance

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet Member 
consulted

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member 
for Finance and Resources 23 March 2020

Approved for circulation Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of 
the Council 23 March 2020

Public or Exempt Public

Reasons for exemption Not applicable

Conflicts of interest None

Recommendation to decision-maker

1. To increase the Ward Member grant scheme allocation to each Member from £500 
to £1,000 with effect from Monday 23 March 2020.

55

Appendix 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 At its meeting on 2 March 2020, the Council agreed its Budget for 2020/21, included within 

which was a Ward Member grant allocation for each Councillor of £500. 

1.2 The Local Government Association has produced guidance for Councillors that highlights 
the role that individual ward councillors can play in supporting their communities. The 
guidance states: “More than ever before, our role as civic and community leaders requires 
us to offer visible, responsible leadership that links community-led support with council 
structures to help build and sustain our overall resilience.” The document builds on the 
Local Government Association’s councillor guidance to civil emergencies and sets out the 
political, civic and community leadership roles that councillors have to play in preparing 
for, responding to and recovering from an emergency.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The Chairman of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee has been consulted because this decision will be made under the 
special urgency arrangements that are set out in the Council’s Constitution. The Chairman 
has confirmed that in light of the present working arrangements and the relatively small 
impact on the total budget that he was happy to proceed.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 To make no changes to the Ward Member grant scheme as approved by Council on 2 

March 2020 as part of the Budget.

3.2 To increase the Ward Member grant scheme allocation for each Member.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 To increase the Ward Member grant scheme allocation for each Member from £500 to 

£1,000 for the 2020/21 financial year. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 The issues that are being raised by residents within Members’ Wards may change 

substantially in the coming months. Councillors’ roles within the context of the outbreak is 
providing local leadership, rather than becoming involved in the operational response, 
which is being led by officers. One of the key roles that Councillors will play is working with 
local voluntary sector groups to provide support and advice for local communities.

5.2 The intelligence Councillors’ hold on their local communities, including existing community 
groups, vulnerable residents and the local voluntary and community sectors will form an 
important part of the response to the Covid-19 outbreak. There has also been an increase 
of new neighbourhood groups coming together in response to the outbreak.

5.3 The Ward Member grant scheme is designed to provide financial support for small 
community groups, and it is recognised that amidst the Covid-19 outbreak demand for 
such support and the pull on that group’s resources may increase. It is considered that 
increasing the funding available through the Ward Member grant scheme will provide 
financial support and resilience for any such group to help them meet the increased needs 
of their communities.

56



6 Financial Implications 
6.1 The financial implication of this decision is £28k, this cost will be funded from reserves.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance

7 Legal and Governance Implications 
7.1 Part 3 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012 sets out minimum periods of notice that must be 
given in respect of Key Decisions. Where there are reasons that mean it is not possible to 
delay a decision to meet these requirements, provisions are made in section 10 and 11 of 
the Act for general exceptions and cases of special urgency. 

7.2 Prior to the making of this decision, consultation was undertaken with the Chairman of the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee. A notice of the decision and the reasons 
for urgency will also be published on the Council’s website and made available at its 
offices.

7.3 The decision to increase the grant scheme is to be welcomed, to ensure greater local use 
of this grant for eligible community use.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

8 Equality and Safeguarding implications
8.1 An equality analysis has been carried out and no negative impacts have been identified. 

9 Risk and mitigation
9.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks have been 

identified.

10 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

10.1 The increase in Ward Member grants will have no carbon impact however it is possible 
that some of the projects that are supported through the scheme may have a carbon 
impact. 

Call-in deadline Not applicableReport Timeline:

Date decision effective 23 March 2020

Decision: To increase the Ward Member grant scheme allocation to each 
Member from £500 to £1,000 with effect from Monday 23 March 
2020.

Date: 23 March 2020

Decision made by:

In consultation with:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

57



This page is intentionally left blank



Key Decision
23 March 2020

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council

        

Temporary amendments to the South Kesteven 
District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy 
To support the continued provision of the licensing function during the Covid-19 pandemic 
response, temporary amendments to the South Kesteven District Council Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy are proposed. 

Report Author

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental

 01476 406319

 a.coulthard@soutkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet member notified Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations 23 March 2020

Approved for circulation Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of 
the Council 24 March 2020

Public or Exempt Public 

Reasons for exemption N/A

Conflicts of interest None 

Recommendation to decision-maker

1. That new applications for hackney carriage and private hire driver licences are 
suspended until further notice

2. That the renewal process for existing hackney carriage and private hire driver 
licences is altered to allow self-certification of medical fitness and any new 
cautions/convictions until further notice

3. That the 6-monthly vehicle compliance check be replaced by a newly issued MOT 
certificate where it has not been possible for the licence holder to obtain a 
compliance check due to the closure of garages approved to undertake the check.

59

Appendix 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


4. That delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations to make further amendments to 
the policy as necessary during the Covid-19 response period. 

1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 To obtain authority to deviate from the approved South Kesteven District Council Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Policy during the Covid-19 emergency response.

1.2 Current deviations are proposed as

 New driver applications will no longer be accepted 

 Existing drivers for renewal will be required to make a self-declaration relating to their 
health since their last group 2 medical and any cautions or convictions since their last 
data barring service record check.  

 If there are no debarring medical conditions identified, no relevant convictions or 
cautions detailed and all other conditions have been met the licensing authority will 
issue a 6 month temporary licence and an advisory that a medical and enhanced DBS 
certificate must be provided within the 6 month licence period, upon receipt of which 
and subject to acceptance,  their licence will be extended to the normal licensing 
period of 3 year.

 They will also be required give an undertaking that any medical condition diagnosed 
within the 6 months will be notified to the licensing authority in writing within 2 working 
days (subject of course to them being medically able).

 All vehicles must be tested at one of the Council’s approved garages (no. 9) every 6 
months.  Where the operator has been unable to obtain the 6 monthly compliance 
certificate due to closure of garages, the Licensing Authority will accept a newly issued 
MOT certificate.  A compliance certificate must be obtained at the next scheduled test. 

 If a compliance certificate or new MOT has not be obtained a vehicle cannot not be 
used or licensed

1.3 Anticipated numbers of effected drivers/vehicles are detailed below by month.  
Approximately 40 new driver applications are received per year.

Month Driver Licence Renewals Vehicle Compliance Tests Due

April 8 37

May 8 32

June 14 25

July 9 28

August 8 43

September 14 17

60



2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The Chairman of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been consulted 

in accordance with the procedures set out in the Council’s Constitution for decisions made 
under general exception and special urgency measures. The Chairman of the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee has confirmed that he is content with the 
making of the decision under these provisions. In order to suspend the right to call the 
decision-in, the Council’s Constitution also requires that the Chairman of the Council is 
consulted. The Chairman of the Council has confirmed that she is happy that this decision 
should not be subject to call-in. 

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The processing of driver renewal applications could be suspended resulting in those 

drivers being unable to operate. 

4 Preferred Option
4.1 That renewals continue with self-declarations. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 To support the taxi trade to continue to operate, while ensuring that sufficient checks 

remain in place to ensure that vehicles are safe and drivers are fit and proper persons. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 To be communicated to those effected by e-mail where possible and via the Council’s 

communications team.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There will be a loss of income of approximately £1k per month to the Council by no longer 

accepting new applications.  Renewal fees will still apply.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The recommendations are pragmatic and sensible in the current circumstances. The 

decision maker will be the Leader, in light of the current executive arrangements.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

9 Equality and Safeguarding implications
9.1 Existing drivers have already undertaken group 2 medical checks and Data Barring 

Services checks.  The temporary self-certification will allow them to continue to operate on 
a temporary basis pending a new medical and DBS check when possible. 

10 Risk and mitigation
10.1 Requirements will be kept under review in accordance with Government guidance. 

11 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

11.1 Not applicable

61



12 Background papers
12.1 None

13 Appendices
13.1 None

Call-in deadline Not applicableReport Timeline:

Date decision effective 24 March 2020

Decision: 1. That new applications for hackney carriage and private 
hire driver licences are suspended until further notice

2. That the renewal process for existing hackney carriage 
and private hire driver licences is altered to allow self-
certification of medical fitness and any new 
cautions/convictions until further notice

3. That the 6-monthly vehicle compliance check be replaced 
by a newly issued MOT certificate where it has not been 
possible for the licence holder to obtain a compliance 
check due to the closure of garages approved to 
undertake the check.

4. That delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive, 
in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations to make further amendments to the policy 
as necessary during the Covid-19 response period.

Date: 24 March 2020

Decision made by:

In consultation with:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

62



Key Decision
24 March 2020

Councillor Kelham Cooke

The Leader of the Council

        

Deferral of rental income for specific organisations 
occupying Council commercial premises
To defer payment of rental income in respect of community groups, small businesses and the 
catering franchises that operate from the Council’s Arts Centre venues. 

Report Author

Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

 01476 406210

 r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet Member 
consulted

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member 
for Finance and Resources 24 March 2020

Approved for circulation Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of 
the Council 25 March 2020

Public or Exempt Public

Reasons for exemption Not applicable

Conflicts of interest None

Recommendation to decision-maker

1. To give approval to suspend rent due to the Council by specific occupiers of 
Council premises for the following organisations: Community Groups, small 
businesses and franchisees at the Arts Centre.

63

Appendix 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 In response to the current economic difficulties caused by the Covid 19 pandemic, the 

recommendation is to suspend rental and service charges for the next financial quarter 
(April – June 2020) in respect of community groups, small businesses and the catering 
franchises that operate from the Arts Centre venues.  These groupings have been 
identified due to their financial vulnerability and difficulties to meet financial obligations 
whilst not trading or inability to provide community services.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The Chairman of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee has been consulted in accordance with the procedures set out in 
the Council’s Constitution for decisions made under general exception and special 
urgency measures; he has confirmed that he is happy for the decision to be taken under 
these provisions. The Chairman of the Council has also been consulted and she has 
confirmed that she is happy for the decision to be taken as urgent and that there should be 
no right of call-in. 

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The alternative option is not to suspend rental that will be due but there is a concern that 

given the nature of these small organisations they will not be a financial position to support 
the rent that will be due.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 The preferred option is the recommendation as set out in the report.

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 The reasons are stated in the report.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 If the recommendation is approved, the eligible organisations will be contacted to notify 

them of the decision that has been made and the rent will be suspended.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 The financial cost will be £70.1k for one quarter.  As the recommendation is suspension 

only, then the rent will be payable at a later date once the current crisis has subsided.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The provisions within the Constitution with regard to general exception, special urgency 

and the call-in of urgent decisions has been followed. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance

9 Equality and Safeguarding implications
9.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising as a result of this decision.

64



10 Risk and mitigation
10.1 Risk has been considered in the preparation of this report and no high risks have been 

identified. 

11 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

11.1 This decision will not have a carbon impact. 

Call-in deadline Not applicableReport Timeline:

Date decision effective 25 March 2020

Decision: To give approval to suspend rent due to the Council by specific 
occupiers of Council premises for the following organisations: 
Community Groups, small businesses and franchisees at the 
Arts Centre.

Date: 25 March 2020

Decision made by:

In consultation with:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

65



This page is intentionally left blank



Key Decision
27 March 2020

Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

Remuneration for street scene officers during the 
Covid-19 outbreak
This report proposes a change in the Council’s remuneration and overtime policy for street scene 
employees during the Covid-19 outbreak and the necessary budgetary changes that would be 
required to support this.  This is in recognition of the efforts of the team to maintain refuse 
collection as an essential service during the current situation.

Report Author

Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and Operational

01476 406080

gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet Member 
consulted

Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources, and 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, the Cabinet 
Member for Commercial & Operations

27 March 2020

Approved for circulation Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of 
the Council 30 March 2020

Public or Exempt Public

Reasons for exemption Not applicable

Conflicts of interest None

Recommendation to decision-maker

1. To amend the remuneration policy for staff working in street scene services during 
the Covid-19 outbreak (on the basis that the service remains operational):

a) Drivers, operatives, team leaders, supervisors, vehicle fitters and support 
staff working within the street scene service (together with any staff 

67

Appendix 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


seconded to the service during the Covid-19 response period) to receive a 
£50 weekly bonus payment

b) The weekly bonus payments should be backdated to come into effect from 
23 March 2020 until 30 June 2020 

c) With effect from 23 March 2020 overtime payments for drivers, operators 
and other Street Scene staff should be paid at time and a half until 30 June 
2020

d) The bonus payment received by part time and casual staff will be on a pro 
rata basis

2. These temporary amendments to the remuneration policy will be reviewed by 30 
June 2020

3. That delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with 
relevant Cabinet Members, to alter or extend these arranges as the Covid-19 
situation continues to evolve

1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 The Council has recognised refuse and recycling as critical services that it needs to 

maintain during the Covid-19 outbreak. Officers within those teams are key workers who 
play an important role in preserving public health. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 This decision is being taken under special urgency provisions to respond to the pressures 

placed on the street scene team as a result of the Covid-19 outbreak. It has therefore not 
been possible to give 28 days prior notification of this decision on the Cabinet Forward 
Plan. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the Chairman of the Finance, 
Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 
been consulted. He has confirmed that he is happy for this decision to be made under the 
special urgency provisions.

2.2 To give certainty to members of the street scene team, it was not considered appropriate 
that this decision should be subject to call-in. The Chairman of the Council has also been 
consulted and she has confirmed that she is content that for this reason the decision 
should not be subject to call-in.

2.3 The decision-maker is the relevant Cabinet Member for Human Resources and 
Organisational Development. As the proposal has budgetary implications, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources has been consulted; he has confirmed that he is 
happy with the principle of the report. The Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations has also been consulted and is again supportive of the recommendation.

3 Available Options Considered and Rejected
3.1 The Council could choose to make no change to the remuneration of waste operatives. 

4 Preferred Option
4.1 To make amendments to the remuneration policy for staff working within the Street Scene 

Team and those seconded to it during the Covid-19 outbreak. The additional payments 
would be made to those people working as drivers, operatives, team leaders, supervisors 
and vehicle fitters.

68



5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 This recommendation seeks to recognise the work of members of the Council’s Street 

Scene team to recognise the increased pressures they face during the Covid-19 response 
period and the key role of this critical service in supporting public health.

5.2 The Council recognises that the staff working in this service are not able to follow 
Government guidelines to stay at home and the risks to which they are therefore exposed. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 Payments will be back dated to Monday 23 March 2020.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 Based on the modelled staffing levels and the scope of the proposal detailed in the report 

the cost will be in the region of £110,000 for the period stated.  However this financial 
projection may vary depending upon the necessary staffing levels (including casual staff) 
and any necessary redeployment into this service area.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The Council has identified the approval of key people and organisational development 

strategies and policies that have significant financial implications (including those related 
to remuneration/pay) as a local choice function to be determined by the Cabinet Member 
with responsibility for people and organisational development. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

9 Equality and Safeguarding implications
9.1 An initial equality analysis has been carried out in respect of this decision and no equality 

or safeguarding implications were identified. All staff members working within the listed 
roles in the street scene team would receive the appropriate payment for that role 
regardless of any protected characteristic. The Council’s gender pay gap reporting 
information recognises the roles in which men and women work within the organisation 
and the salaries those roles attract. 

9.2 It is also noted that the continued provision of the service provides a positive impact for 
residents with all protected characteristics. 

10 Risk and mitigation
10.1 Risk has been considered during the preparation of this report.

11 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

11.1 This decision will have no carbon impact. 

12 Background papers
12.1 The Council’s Pay Policy Statement 2020-21: This report seeks to recognise the work of 

members of the Council’s Street Scene team to recognise the increased pressures they 
face during the Covid-19 response period and the key role of this critical service in 
supporting public health.

69



Call-in deadline Not applicableReport Timeline:

Date decision effective 30 March 2020

Decision: 1. To amend the remuneration policy for staff working in 
street scene services during the Covid-19 outbreak (on 
the basis that the service remains operational):

a) Drivers, operatives, team leaders, supervisors, 
vehicle fitters and support staff working within the 
street scene service (together with any staff 
seconded to the service during the Covid-19 
response period) to receive a £50 weekly bonus 
payment

b) The weekly bonus payments should be 
backdated to come into effect from 23 March 
2020 until 30 June 2020 

c) With effect from 23 March 2020 overtime 
payments for drivers, operators and other Street 
Scene staff should be paid at time and a half until 
30 June 2020

d) The bonus payment received by part time and 
casual staff will be on a pro rata basis

2. These temporary amendments to the remuneration policy 
will be reviewed by 30 June 2020

3. That delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive, 
in consultation with relevant Cabinet Members, to alter or 
extend these arranges as the Covid-19 situation 
continues to evolve

Date: 30 March 2020

Decision made by:

In consultation with:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

70



Key Decision
25 March 2020

Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

Refuse and Recycling Collection - operational policies
This report reviews the Council’s arrangements for refuse and recycling collection during the 
Covid-19 pandemic to support and maintain waste collection as a critical service.  Waste collection 
is an essential public service and it is a key priority for the Council to ensure this service continues 
to be delivered.  As the Covid-19 pandemic develops, it may be necessary to draw on some of the 
service changes outlined in this report to provide greater flexibility to maintain service safety and 
continuity of critical refuse collections.

Report Author

Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and Operational

01476 406080

gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet Member 
consulted

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations 30 March 2020

Approved for circulation Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of 
the Council 31 March 2020

Public or Exempt Public

Reasons for exemption Not applicable

Conflicts of interest None

Recommendation to decision-maker

1. To make the following amendments to the Council’s ‘Refuse and Recycling 
Collection – operational policies’ as part of the Covid-19 pandemic response to 
protect the safety of the crews and public as well as to ensure the continued 
delivery of this essential public service:

a) Collection arrangements

71

Appendix 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


i) During periods of emergency, collections may be carried out at any time 
to enable this vital service to continue 

b) Presentation of waste
i) In emergency periods waste is to be presented the evening before the 

scheduled collection
c) Frequency of collections (recycling and general waste)

i) During emergency periods the frequency and date of collections may 
change; the Council’s website will provide daily updates in conjunction 
with information releases through other media channels

d) Green waste
i) The frequency of collections may need to change during emergency 

periods, which will be recognised in the payments retrospectively. The 
Council’s website will provide daily updates along with information 
releases through other media channels

e) Missed bins
i) Where a bin is missed, customers will be asked to re-present their waste 

at their next scheduled collection or as advised on the Council’s website
f) Bulky household waste

i) Collections will be on a priority case-by-case basis as assessed by the 
service manager

2. That delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations, to make further amendments 
and/or temporary suspensions to the policy as necessary during the Covid-19 
response period.

1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 In light of the Covid-19 outbreak, the Council has reviewed its waste policies to ensure 

that it can continue to provide the waste collection service, increasing the resilience of the 
arrangements and reducing the opportunity for transmission across the workforce within 
the waste and recycling team.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The Chairman of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been consulted 

in accordance with the procedures set out in the Council’s Constitution for decisions made 
under general exception and special urgency measures. The Chairman has confirmed that 
he is content with the making of the decision under these provisions. The Chairman of the 
Council has also been consulted and she has confirmed that she is happy for the decision 
to be taken as urgent and that there should be no right of call-in.

2.2 The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations was consulted and has contributed 
to the recommendations which he is supportive of.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The options that are available to the Council are:

 To maintain the existing Refuse and Recycling Operational Policies

72



 To make amendments to the policy to provide greater flexibility

 To reduce the level of service

4 Preferred Option
4.1 The preferred option is to make amendments to the existing Refuse and Recycling 

Operational Policies to provide greater flexibility. The proposed changes are:

a) Allowing for collections to take place at any time to allow the continuation of this 
service

b) Requiring residents to present their waste the evening before the collection is due 
to occur

c) Recognising that during emergency periods the frequency and/or the date of 
collection may change; residents will be updated via the Council’s website and 
information releases distributed through other media channels

d) Recognising that the frequency of collection of green bins may change during 
emergency periods, which will be recognised in the payments retrospectively; 
residents will be updated via the Council’s website and information releases made 
distributed through other media channels

e) Where a bin is missed, asking customers to re-present their waste at their next 
scheduled collection or as advised on the Council’s website

f) Collection of bulky waste will be arranged on a priority case-by-case basis as 
assess by the service manager

g) To enable other elements of the policy to be temporarily amended and/or 
suspended during times of emergency or to enable business continuity of core 
critical service. The decision to do this to be delegated to the Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 By amending policy 3 of the existing Refuse and Recycling Operational Policies to enable 

collections to take place at any time during emergency periods will provide an 
arrangement to ensure the continued delivery of the service. It would also provide an 
opportunity for greater flexibility in the operation of waste collection services which will 
reduce the risk of transmission to our operatives and extend operating times to maintain 
the service with fewer staff. Making this change would also require a consequential 
adjustment to be made to the Council’s missed bin policy in order to reflect the increased 
scope with regard to collection times. To accommodate the change, residents would be 
asked to present their waste the evening before their scheduled collection. 

5.2 It is likely that the effects of the virus will lead to a reduction in the available workforce. To 
ensure that the Council can continue to collect waste on a weekly basis (two-weekly rolling 
cycle alternating between general waste and recycling) it may be necessary for crews to 
work on Saturdays, Sundays and bank holidays. Other services provided by the waste 
team may need adjusting to accommodate the reduced workforce, including making 
additional visits to collect missed bins or collect items of bulky household waste.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 Work will need to be undertaken using a mix of communication channels to ensure 

residents understand the new collection times and the time at which they must present 
their bins.

73



7 Financial Implications 
7.1 It is expected that the policy framework proposed amendments set out in the report will be 

met from existing budgetary levels. However it is recognised that the current situation is 
volatile and unpredictable so there may be associated financial impacts that are not known 
at the present time.  The Council is financially well placed to respond to this scenario and 
associated unbudgeted costs will be met by Government.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 Part 3 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012 sets out minimum periods of notice that must be 
given in respect of Key Decisions. Where there are reasons that mean it is not possible to 
delay a decision to meet these requirements, provisions are made in section 10 and 11 of 
the Act for general exceptions and cases of special urgency. 

8.2 Prior to the making of this decision, consultation was undertaken with the Chairman of the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee. A notice of the decision and the reasons 
for urgency will also be published on the Council’s website. The Chairman of the Council 
was also consulted because the urgency of the decision means that any delays caused by 
call-in of the decision could have a negative impact on the Council’s ability to deliver a 
critical service. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance

9 Equality and Safeguarding implications
9.1 An initial equality analysis has been prepared. As no change to the level of service is 

being proposed, the impact of the changes to the policy on customers will not negatively 
impact on any protected characteristic. Should the policy be further revised then it will be 
necessary to carry out further analysis on the impact of those proposals on the protected 
characteristics. 

9.2 The equality analysis identified a potential negative impact to staff under the protected 
characteristic of religion and belief. Any staff member who did not feel they could or should 
work on particular days for religious reasons should speak to their line manager to discuss 
how this could be accommodated.

10 Risk and mitigation
10.1 A risk has been identified that the workforce could be significantly depleted as a result of 

the Covid-19 outbreak. This decision is intended to mitigate against that risk, minimising 
the impact on service-users. As the spread of the outbreak continues to grow and the 
impact on staff increases, the Council may need to further review its policy and consider 
temporary reductions or pauses to some of its services.

11 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

11.1 There may be some carbon impact if the Council has to revise its rounds and undertake 
additional rounds to mitigate a reduction in the available workforce. At this time it is not 
possible to assess any negative carbon impact of any changes that would be required, nor 
take action to mitigate against them.

74



12 Background papers
12.1 The existing Refuse and Recycling Collection – operational policies: 

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17206&p=0

12.2 Article 17 of the Council’s Constitution which sets out the general exception and special 
urgency decision-making arrangements: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23372/Article%2017%2011.04.18.pdf

Call-in deadline Not applicableReport Timeline:

Date decision effective 31 March 2020

Decision: 1. To make the following amendments to the Council’s 
‘Refuse and Recycling Collection – operational policies’ 
as part of the Covid-19 pandemic response to protect the 
safety of the crews and public as well as to ensure the 
continued delivery of this essential public service:

a) Collection arrangements
i) During periods of emergency, collections may 

be carried out at any time to enable this vital 
service to continue 

b) Presentation of waste
i) In emergency periods waste is to be 

presented the evening before the scheduled 
collection

c) Frequency of collections (recycling and general 
waste)
i) During emergency periods the frequency and 

date of collections may change; the Council’s 
website will provide daily updates in 
conjunction with information releases through 
other media channels

d) Green waste
i) The frequency of collections may need to 

change during emergency periods, which will 
be recognised in the payments 
retrospectively. The Council’s website will 
provide daily updates along with information 
releases through other media channels

e) Missed bins
i) Where a bin is missed, customers will be 

asked to re-present their waste at their next 

75

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17206&p=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23372/Article%2017%2011.04.18.pdf


scheduled collection or as advised on the 
Council’s website

f) Bulky household waste
i) Collections will be on a priority case-by-case 

basis as assessed by the service manager
2. That delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive, 

in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations, to make further amendments and/or 
temporary suspensions to the policy as necessary during 
the Covid-19 response period.

Date: 31 March 2020

Decision made by:

In consultation with:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

76



Key Decision
16 April 2020

Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme
To consider whether the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme may be suitable for some staff and if 
so, to adopt a policy approach to the scheme. 

Report Author

Jane Jenkinson, Senior HR Officer

01476 406137

j.jenkinson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet Member 
consulted

Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources 17 April 2020

Approved for circulation Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of 
the Council 22 April 2020

Public or Exempt Public

Reasons for exemption Not applicable

Conflicts of interest None

Urgency This decision is to be taken under the special urgency provisions 
within the Council’s Constitution with call-in suspended because of 
the potential financial impacts to the council of delaying the decision, 
and so that those staff members who are likely to be affected are 
consulted and given some certainty and confidence.

Recommendation to decision-maker

1. That the Council accepts that the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme may be 
suitable for discrete staff groups, in exceptional circumstances, as set out in 
paragraphs section 4 of the report

2. That Cabinet delegates to the Chief Executive the decision to furlough staff, in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council, and requires that any such decision be 
reported to Council

77

Appendix 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme is a temporary scheme open to all UK employers 

for at least three months starting from 1 March 2020. Under the Scheme, the government 
will compensate employers by way of a grant covering up to 80% of the wages of a 
furloughed employee, up to a maximum of £2500 per month. Employers can top up the 
wages to 100% if they can afford to do so.

1.2 The Government has indicated that it expects that the scheme will not be used by many 
public sector organisations, as public sector funding continues, and the majority of public 
sector employees are expected to continue to provide essential public services or 
contribute to the response to the coronavirus outbreak.

1.3 In a small number of public sector service areas, the Scheme might be available. This 
could include, for example, service areas that rely on fee income and are not directly 
funded through Government grant, or whose staff cannot be redeployed to assist with the 
coronavirus response.  

1.4 Under the Scheme, employers continue to pay their staff in the normal way and claim back 
the lower of 80% or £2,500 per month, plus Employers national insurance contributions 
and minimum automatic enrolment employer pension contributions, which is 3% of salary.   
There is a legal requirement to pay 80% of salary with employer discretion on whether to 
top up the remaining 20%.  Guidance is also provided on how to calculate pay for casual 
employees on variable hours.

1.5 The minimum furlough period is three weeks and claims can be submitted no more than 
every three weeks.  Employees can be furloughed multiple times, for example, in rotation, 
but each separate instance must be for a minimum period of 3 consecutive weeks.

1.6 If placed on furlough, an employer cannot ask employees to do any work that makes 
money for the organisation or provides services. Furloughed employees can take part in 
volunteer work or training.

1.7 Following a number of queries about how the scheme might apply to certain 
circumstances in local authorities, the Government conveyed the following view to the 
Local Government Association (LGA):

"The Government has given local authorities £1.6bn of additional funding to support them 
in responding to the Covid-19 pandemic. This funding is un-ringfenced and is intended to 
help local authorities address any pressures they are facing in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic, across all service areas. 

"Where employers receive public grant funding for staff costs, and that funding is 
continuing, we expect employers to use that money to continue to pay staff in the usual 
fashion - and correspondingly not furlough them. This also applies to non-public sector 
employers who receive public grant funding for staff costs." 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 Regional Employers/LGA have advised that councils (and schools) are not expected to 

furlough their directly employed workforce, this includes casuals, zero hours staff and 
apprentices, all of whom should continue to be paid as normal.  

2.2 However, where authorities have more ‘arms-length’ organisations or arrangements 
funded without public money (e.g. tourism or leisure companies); where staff are not 

78



redeployable to support the Covid-19 response or other roles affected by staff shortages 
during this period, and where the alternative would be redundancy or lay off, then 
furloughing may be the best available option.

2.3 The relevant unions have been consulted on this proposed policy. 

2.4 The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources has been consulted in the preparation of 
this report. He indicated that he had no comments to add.

2.5 As it is proposed that the decision is taken using special urgency provisions, the Chairman 
of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has been consulted. He has confirmed that he is happy for the decision to be 
made under these provisions. 

2.6  As it is also proposed to suspend call-in in respect of this decision, the Chairman of the 
Council has also been consulted. She has confirmed that she is happy for call-in to be 
suspended on this occasion. 

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The options available are:

a) Not to apply the scheme to any staff. This is the position taken by a number of local 
authorities, but not exclusively so

b) To accept in principle that there may be a case for limited furloughing of staff in line 
with an agreed policy

4 Preferred Option
4.1 It is proposed that a furloughing policy approach as set out below, is applied:

a) That the Council accepts that furloughing of Council staff is generally not 
appropriate for staff funded directly through public funds

b) Where staff are not able to carry out their usual work, all employers in the public 
sector should make every effort to redeploy employees to assist with the 
Government’s response. This could include redeployment within the current 
organisation, or to other areas of the public sector

c) Furloughing may be appropriate in exceptional cases for staff who are not able to 
be redeployed elsewhere and whose funding comes from private funds, such as 
fees and charges

d) Where staff are furloughed, the Council will top up the government’s scheme so 
that staff will not experience a reduction in salary income or pension contributions

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 Where commercially focussed services experience a loss in income, the furlough scheme 

provides an opportunity to protect jobs where that reduction could otherwise mean that its 
staff may be made redundant.

5.2 Where the Council is considering furloughing staff consideration will also be given to 
whether those staff could be redeployed. Having considered redeployment options and the 
decision has been made to furlough staff, the top-up payment would mean that those 
affected employees would not be disadvantaged.

79



6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 If a decision is taken to furlough staff, the relevant managers will be consulted with to 

commence the process. Those staff who are affected will be written to, seeking their 
agreement to be placed on a period of furlough.

6.2 The wider officer cohort will be kept informed of developments across the Council through 
the daily staff updates.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 The employer (the Council) can claim 80% of the regular wages for each employee 

through the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme up to a monthly cap of £2,500 per 
employee.  The employer will also be able to claim back the NI contributions for each 
employee during the period.  The employee will still pay tax and other deductions from 
their income for the period.  The employee will not be able to be redeployed by the Council 
whilst on furlough.  The funding, when received will be used to offset the operational costs 
of those specific services.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 If a decision is taken to furlough staff this will involve changing employees’ contracts and 

should be agreed with them, and with recognised trade unions. Following this, the Council 
will need to write to those staff members to confirm that they are being furloughed from a 
specified date for a minimum of three weeks.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance

9 Equality and Safeguarding implications
9.1 A stage 1 equality analysis has been undertaken. By deciding to top up the government’s 

scheme, furloughed staff will not experience a reduction in salary income or pension 
contributions. A potential negative impact was identified for any employees who are 
furloughed, in terms of their welfare. The Council needs to ensure that arrangements are 
in place to keep in contact with furloughed employees, particularly those who may be 
vulnerable and who do not have support networks.

10 Risk and mitigation
10.1 HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) may carry out an audit of any claims submitted and 

there is a risk that if SKDC was audited that HMRC could decide that claims are not valid.  
At this time there is no information about what the consequences of this could be. There is 
no guarantee that HMRC will accept claims from the public sector, and so from a financial 
perspective, the Council should be prepare a contingency plan to meet staff costs in full if 
applications to furlough are rejected.

11 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

11.1 The proposals in this report have no carbon impact.

Call-in deadline Not applicableReport Timeline:

Date decision effective (subject to call-in) 22 April 2020

80



Decision: 1. That the Council accepts that the Coronavirus Job 
Retention Scheme may be suitable for discrete staff 
groups, in exceptional circumstances, as set out below:

a) Council accepts that furloughing of Council staff 
is generally not appropriate for staff funded 
directly through public funds

b) Where staff are not able to carry out their usual 
work, all employers in the public sector should 
make every effort to redeploy employees to 
assist with the Government’s response. This 
could include redeployment within the current 
organisation, or to other areas of the public 
sector

c) Furloughing may be appropriate in exceptional 
cases for staff who are not able to be redeployed 
elsewhere and whose funding comes from 
private funds, such as fees and charges

d) Where staff are furloughed, the Council will top 
up the government’s scheme so that staff will not 
experience a reduction in salary income or 
pension contributions

2. That Cabinet delegates to the Chief Executive the 
decision to furlough staff, in consultation with the Leader 
of the Council, and requires that any such decision be 
reported to Council

Date: 22 April 2020

Decision made by:

In consultation with:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

81



This page is intentionally left blank



Officer Delegated 
Decision
27 March 2020
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

        

Suspension of collection and enforcement for South 
Kesteven District Council's pay and display car parks
Following consultation with the Leader, this report seeks to suspend the collection and 
enforcement of payment for South Kesteven District Council’s pay and display car parks for a 
period of 3-months until 30 June 2020.

Decision made by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

Decision: 1. To suspend car parking collection and enforcement 
for the South Kesteven District Council’s pay and 
display car parks until 30 June 2020

2. To extend the life of any season tickets by the 
equivalent time for which collection and enforcement 
is suspended

3. To keep the duration of the suspension under review

Date: 27 March 2020

Public or Exempt: Public

Reasons for exemption: Not applicable

Conflicts of interest: No

Policy compliant: Yes – no changes are proposed to the Council’s fees and 
charges

Delegation The Chief Executive may take action regarding operational 
procedures to ensure continued delivery of service

Contact

Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and Operational

01476 406080

gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk

83

Appendix 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 The Council operates car parks across the district and those in Grantham and Stamford 

are subject to ‘pay and display’ arrangements. Payment is either made through cash 
machines in the car park or via the customer’s mobile phone. The fees and charges for 
those car parks where payment is required are set annually by the Council with its Budget. 
The Council also offers season tickets for three and six-months.

1.2 The Council has recognised, given the reduced movements as a result of the Covid-19 
restrictions, that those people now using the car parks are mainly key workers and other 
essential personnel.

2 Comments of Consultees
2.1 In addition to the Leader, the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations and the 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources have also been consulted and have indicated 
their support.

2.2 The Council has received a request from a supermarket, which is operating on the same 
site as a Council car park. The company is approaching all its landlords and council run 
car parks asking them to turn-off the pay and display machines to limit the spread of 
infection and reduce the risk of it entering into their stores.

3 Available Options Considered and Rejected 
3.1 The Council could choose to make no change to its car parking collection and 

enforcement arrangements. This could increase the risk of the spread of infection. 

3.2 The Council could choose to turn off its pay and display machines however, there may be 
some customers who cannot pay by mobile therefore there may be some sections of the 
population who are disadvantaged. Those people would either be unable to park in council 
car parks or face the added expense of enforcement penalty notices. 

4 Preferred Option
4.1 To suspend collection and enforcement in the Council’s ‘paid for’ car parks for three 

months until 30 June 2020. This will be kept under review during the Covid-19 restriction 
period. The Council recognises that some customers will have purchased season tickets 
that incorporate this period. It is therefore proposed that a period corresponding to 
duration of the suspension should be added to the end of their season ticket following its 
expiration.

5 Reasons for the Decision (s)
5.1 Since the outbreak of Covid-19 and the restrictions put in place around travel, the 

Council’s car parks are predominantly being used by key workers and other essential 
personnel who have to attend town centres to ensure delivery of vital services.

5.2 Suspending collection and enforcement will prevent customers needing to use ‘pay and 
display’ car parking machines thus reducing touch points and the risk of cross-infection 
with Covid-19. It also removes the requirement for an operative to visit each machine and 
retrieve cash; this providing a further means of preventing cross-infection and reducing the 
security risks associated with safe cash collection. 

5.3 Suspending collection and enforcement provides parity for all customers seeking to use 
the Council’s car parks. It recognises that not all customers may be able to pay by mobile.

84



5.4 The decision would also protect the Council should enforcement become untenable, either 
because there are insufficient staff available to carry out enforcement activity.

5.5 Customers with season tickets will not be disadvantaged because the duration of the 
suspension will be added to the life of their season ticket.

6 Implementation of decision
6.1 Notices will need placing in all of the Council’s paid for car parks. They will need to be 

placed at payment machines and at points throughout the car park to ensure that those 
customers who pay by mobile are aware of the suspension.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 The financial impact of the current travel restrictions is evident in the car parking income.  

Typically, the Council can expect to receive the equivalent of £25k per week from the 
users of the car parking service but since the restrictions were announced on 23 March 
2020, there has been a 95% reduction in the income received.  This is typical with other 
parts of the county. Therefore suspending the chargeable element of the car parking 
service will not have a material impact when compared with the current income levels.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The Council has two external contracts for the collection of car park charges, one for 

cashless payments and one for cash payments. There is nothing in either contract to 
prevent the Council making this decision.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

9 Equality and Safeguarding implications
9.1 An equality analysis has been completed in respect of this decision. The equality analysis 

identified a potential negative impact on people with disabilities. It is the Council’s policy 
that blue badge holders can park all day for free in any of the Council’s car parks. It is 
possible that the decision to suspend collection and enforcement could lead to increased 
demand in the Council’s car parks and reduce available spaces for blue badge holders. 
This has been considered in the context of the restriction of movement that has arisen 
from the Covid-19 outbreak and the changes in behaviour that have been seen since 
those restrictions were put in place. It is therefore considered that there would still be 
sufficient car parking spaces available for blue-badge holders and therefore they would 
not be adversely impacted. If the Council receives feedback from customers with 
disabilities, it will review how best their needs could be supported.

10 Risk and mitigation
10.1 Risk has been considered in the preparation of this report.

11 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

11.1 There is a potential carbon impact if the suspension of collection and enforcement leads to 
more people using their cars, however the behaviour that has been witnessed since the 
Covid-19 restrictions were put in place indicates that vehicle movements have reduced.

85



Call-in deadline (where applicable) Not applicableReport Timeline:
Date decision effective (subject to call-in) 27 March 2020

86



Officer Delegated 
Decision
9 April 2020

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

        

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme: Furlough of Staff 
from East Midlands Building Control
Furloughing may be appropriate in exceptional cases for staff who are not able to be redeployed 
elsewhere and whose funding comes from private funds, such as fees and charges.

Decision 
made by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

Decision: To furlough 13 staff from East Midlands Building Control based on an 
assessment of knowledge, skills and experience

Date: 24 April 2020

Public or 
Exempt: Public

Reasons for 
exemption: Not applicable

Conflicts of 
interest: No

Policy 
compliant: Yes

Details of 
delegation:

Key Decision taken by the Leader of the Council which delegated authority to 
the Chief Executive to furlough staff in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council: 
(http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27074)

Contact

Jane Jenkinson, Senior HR Officer

01476 406137

j.jenkinson@southkesteven.gov.uk

87

Appendix 11

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 East Midlands Building Consultancy (EMBC) is a local authority building control 

partnership between South Kesteven District Council, Newark and Sherwood District 
Council and Rushcliffe Borough Council. The partnership employs 19 people, 12 
surveyors and seven in business support. The partnership delivers the statutory functions 
that are the role of local authorities together with commercial activity delivered in 
competition with the private sector.

1.2 The budget for the partnership is based on a split of 74% fee-earning work and 26% non-
fee-earning. The existing non-fee earning costs which are covered by government grants 
represents 26% of the partnership’s costs. 

1.3 The costs are shared equally between the three partners with the two non-employing 
partners paying a management fee of £20,000 each year. Non fee-earning work is re-
charged three-ways and funded through the General Fund of each authority. The fee-
earning portion of the work has to trade in competition with other private sector approved 
inspectors. The trading deficit or surplus is shared between partners with the aim to 
breakeven each year.

1.4 The service must break even over a 3-year period. When the partnership was formed 
each authority brought forward its original deficit balances. Over the trading years, two 
authorities have now moved to small positive balances, while the third retains a negative 
balance.

1.5 As the building/construction market is cyclical, the aim is to retain staff when fees reduce 
so that the resource is available once the market recovers. If there was a sustained period 
during which income was reduced, the partnership would look to reduce the workforce and 
then rebuild when work increased. Recruitment of experienced building control surveyors 
is difficult and the aim of the partnership is usually to retain and train new recruits for the 
longer term. 

1.6 A key decision has been made which accepted that the Coronavirus Job Retention 
Scheme may be suitable for discrete staff groups, in exceptional circumstances. As part of 
the decision, it was agreed that where staff are furloughed the Council would top up the 
government’s scheme so that they would not experience a reduction in salary income or 
pension contributions.

1.7 The key decision report also gave delegated authority to the Chief Executive to furlough 
staff, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, and requires that any such decision be 
reported to Council. This report considers whether it would be suitable for staff employed 
in the EMBC partnership based on the criteria with the furlough policy:

a) That the Council accepts that furloughing of Council staff is generally not 
appropriate for staff funded directly through public funds

b) Where staff are not able to carry out their usual work, all employers in the public 
sector should make every effort to redeploy employees to assist with the 
Government’s response. This could include redeployment within the current 
organisation, or to other areas of the public sector

c) Furloughing may be appropriate in exceptional cases for staff who are not able to 
be redeployed elsewhere and whose funding comes from private funds, such as 
fees and charges

88



d) Where staff are furloughed, the Council will top up the government’s scheme so 
that staff will not experience a reduction in salary income or pension contributions

2 Comments of Consultees
2.1 Partner organisations of East Midlands Building Control (EMBC) have been consulted and 

are in agreement with any decision by SKDC to furlough staff employed within that 
service.

2.2 As part of the consultation with the EMBC partners it was agreed to: 

- model and assess the financial risk/liabilities of the reduced fee-based income

- seek to redeploy staff where sensible or appropriate

- retain a core team to keep EMBC functional

2.3 The relevant unions have been consulted with and accept there may be exceptional 
circumstances where SKDC may wish to consider furloughing of staff.  Further 
consultation will take place with the unions as appropriate when decisions are taken to 
furlough staff.

3 Available Options Considered
Furloughing no staff in EMBC

3.1 Staff from East Midlands Building Control could not be redeployed because there would 
be insufficient budget to pay them; the service is predominantly funded through the fees it 
collects through competition with the private sector. The fee-earning element of the 
partnership’s work has fallen away.

Furloughing all staff in EMBC
3.2 It would not be possible to furlough all staff within the East Midlands Building Control 

service because there are statutory functions that are carried out by the team, which 
would need to continue. This proportion of the work is funded through the Council’s 
General Fund. 

Furloughing a proportion of staff
3.3 Maintaining sufficient staff to carry out any statutory duties and ensure that the partnership 

is able to continue during the COVID-19 response period.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 To furlough 13 staff from EMBC (8 surveyors and 5 members of the business support 

team) in line with the proportion of the partnership’s work that is expected to continue. 
Sufficient staff are necessary to maintain a core service. Those staff who will be retained 
have been identified as having the knowledge, skills and breadth and depth of experience 
required for this.

5 Reasons for the Decision (s)
5.1 It is necessary to assess the proposed furloughing of staff against the policy that has been 

agreed.

The Council accepts that furloughing of Council staff is generally not appropriate 
for staff funded directly through public funds

5.2 26% of the costs of the partnership are generated from non-fee paying work. This portion 
of work is therefore funded through the General Fund and supported through government 

89



grants. On this basis at least 26% of the partnership’s workforce should be retained 
because it is funded directly through public funds.

5.3 Figures indicate a 91% reduction in income raised through fees when comparing the same 
two-week period in 2019/20 and 2020/21. 

5.4 A review has been undertaken to establish the proportion of work that is expected to 
continue. This has been used as the basis for considering the proportion of staff who 
would be put forward for the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme.

Where staff are not able to carry out their usual work, all employers in the public 
sector should make every effort to redeploy employees to assist with the 
Government’s response (including within the current organisation or to other areas 
of the public sector)

5.5 The decrease in fee-earning income is reflected in reduced demand for services. There 
has also been a reduction in applications, telephone calls and inspections, together with 
plan checking.

5.6 An assessment has been carried out to establish the required number of staff to deliver 
statutory functions and maintain the service in the context of that reduced demand. It is 
therefore apparent that there is insufficient work should all staff within the partnership be 
retained.

5.7 The Council is looking at furloughing staff equating to 59% of the monthly employee costs 
compared to the percentage of work that is funded through fees. This means that the 
proportion of staff being furloughed exceeds that funded by the General Fund, so the 
Council can demonstrate it is not furloughing staff which are being funded by council tax-
payers.

Furloughing may be appropriate in exceptional cases for staff who are not able to 
be redeployed elsewhere and whose funding comes from private funds, such as 
fees and charges

5.8 The policy adopted by the Council indicates that furlough will only be considered in 
exceptional circumstances and only where it is not possible to redeploy those members of 
staff. 

5.9 Where staff are redeployed the partnership would need to recharge the costs to the 
service to reduce the building control trading costs. No budget provision has been made 
by other services to cover this re-charge.

5.10 Whilst there are some opportunities for redeployment across the council no budgetary 
provision has been made within services to cover this re-charge.

5.11 Those staff members who are to be furloughed have been identified by scoring individuals’ 
knowledge of the role, customers and systems, skills and the breadth and depth of their 
experience. The assessment has also considered whether there are any staff members 
who are already shielding or self-isolating because of health issues.

6 Financial Implications 
6.1 The employer (the Council) can claim 80% of the regular wages for each employee 

through the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme up to a monthly cap of £2,500 per 
employee.  The employer will also be able to claim back the NI contributions for each 
employee during the period.  The employee will still pay tax and other deductions from 
their income for the period.  The employee will not be able to be redeployed by the Council 

90



whilst on furlough.  The funding, when received will be used to offset the operational costs 
of those specific services.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

7 Legal and Governance Implications 
7.1 If a decision is taken to furlough staff this will involve changing employees’ contracts and 

should be agreed with them, and with recognised trade unions.  Following this, we will 
need to write to them to confirm that they are being furloughed from a specified date for a 
minimum of three weeks.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

8 Risk and mitigation
8.1 HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) may carry out an audit of any claims submitted and 

there is a risk that if SKDC was audited that HMRC could decide that claims are not valid.  
At this time there is no information about what the consequences of this could be.

8.2 Staff that are furloughed may subsequently not be accepted by the government’s scheme, 
which means the partnership would have to stand the full cost of keeping that employee.

8.3 Some of the team may start looking for other employment and, if they did not return, this 
would cause a problem as we know that recruiting new staff is difficult – this could 
negatively impact fee-earning income levels.

9 Equality and Safeguarding implications
9.1 Furloughing employees may have a negative impact on wellbeing due to the temporary 

removal and purpose of the employee’s role and will also detach them from their 
colleagues. Plans will be put in place to ensure regular contact will be maintained with 
those employees placed on furlough as well as access to organisational communications, 
including wellbeing messages, key organisational messages and emotional support. 

10 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

10.1 This decision has a positive carbon impact. The temporary reduction in staff will lead to 
reduced vehicle use.

11 Background papers
11.1 Key decision report: Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27074 

Call-in deadline (where applicable) Not applicableReport Timeline:
Date decision effective 24 April 2020

91

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27074


This page is intentionally left blank



Officer Delegated 
Decision
29 April 2020

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

        

Temporary Amendment to the South Kesteven District 
Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy (Vehicle Age)

Decision made by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

Decision: To temporarily increase the age limit for a vehicle to continue to 
be licenced as a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle 
(provided all other conditions are met) from 10 years to 11 years 
for licence renewals due up to and including 31 December 2020 
or until restrictions relating to car sales are lifted whichever is 
sooner. 

Date: 30 April 2020

Public or Exempt: Public

Reasons for exemption: N/A

Conflicts of interest: No

Policy compliant: Yes – temporary amendment under delegated authority

Details of delegation: Key Decision made by the Leader of the Council on 23 March 
2020 that delegates authority to the Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations to make further amendments to the policy as 
necessary during the Covid-19 response period.

Contact

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental

 01476 406319

 a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk

93

Appendix 12

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27042&Opt=0


1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 The South Kesteven District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 

requires a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle to be less than 7 years old when first 
licensed, the vehicle can continue to be licensed until it reaches 10 years of age.

1.2 The business closure restrictions which are currently in place under the Health Protection 
(Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) Regulations 2020 mean that car sales showrooms 
and auction houses are closed.  As a result, the options for purchasing a new vehicle 
when an existing licenced vehicle reaches 10 years old are limited.

1.3 There are currently 17 licenced vehicles which will reach the 10 year maximum age limit 
by the end of December 2020 and under the current policy cannot be re-licensed and 
must be replaced. 

1.4 Temporarily increasing the age limit for renewals will allow the operators of these vehicles 
to continue to work during a period when they are unlikely to be able to obtain a 
replacement vehicle.   All other licence conditions relating to 6 monthly compliance testing, 
vehicle condition and maintenance must continue to be met. 

2 Comments of Consultees
2.1 As required by the delegated authority, the Cabinet Member for Commercial and 

Operations has been consulted and is in agreement.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The Council could choose to make no amendment to the policy resulting in the licences for 

the impacted vehicles not being renewed.  As a result, the operator will be unable to use 
the vehicle and is likely to be unable to purchase a new vehicle, potentially impacting on 
their employment. 

3.2 A shorter age limit extension could be considered; however, as it is unknown when the 
restrictions will be lifted and vehicles will still be required to meet all other licence 
conditions (ensuring their continued safety etc) a 12 month extension will give those 
effected some certainty that they can continue to operate.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 To extend the age limit for a vehicle to continue to be licenced to 11 years for those 

vehicles that will be 10 years old by 31 December 2020 or until restrictions relating to the 
sale of vehicles are lifted, whichever is the soonest. 

5 Reasons for the Decision (s)
5.1 Extending the age limit supports those effected to continue to operate during a period 

when they would unlikely to be unable to obtain a new vehicle.  Maintaining the current 
conditions relating to inspection and maintenance of the vehicle ensures that the vehicles 
remain safe and meet visual standards.

6 Financial Implications 
6.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance

94



7 Legal and Governance Implications 
7.1 This temporary amendment is a sensible and practical approach.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

8 Equality and Safeguarding implications
8.1 None identified. 

9 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

9.1 There is a potential impact as extending the vehicle age will result in more older vehicles 
being in use which have less stringent emissions standards than a newer vehicle.  
However, as the number of vehicles effected is small (6 no.) the impact will not be 
significant. 

10 Appendices
10.1 None. 

Call-in deadline (where applicable) Not applicableReport Timeline:
Date decision effective (subject to call-in) 30 April 2020

95



This page is intentionally left blank



Officer Delegated 
Decision
29 April 2020
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

        

Meeting procedures during the COVID-19 restriction 
period
A report setting out how the Council has adopted The Local Authorities and Police and Crime 
Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2020 (the 2020 Regulations) in its meeting protocols

Decision made by: Chief Executive

Decision: That the Council:
i. Holds virtual meetings of Council and other 

committees;
ii. Uses Skype for Business as its preferred application 

for virtual meetings
iii. Adapts the meeting protocols for Council and 

Planning Committee as set out in the appendices to 
this report

Date: 1 May 2020

Public or Exempt: Public

Reasons for exemption: Not applicable

Conflicts of interest: No

Policy compliant: Yes

Details of delegation: Officer delegations Article 16

Contact

Jo Toomey, Head of Governance

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

97

Appendix 13

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 

Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 
make provision for local authorities to hold virtual meetings during the coronavirus 
pandemic.

1.2 Local authority meetings were, before the pandemic, required to be held with physical 
attendance by members in a room together. As social distancing requirements have come 
into force, such meetings have been impossible to hold. The Government has however 
recognised that local authority meetings need to be held and the 2020 Regulations have 
been laid to aid ‘virtual’ meetings to be held.

1.3 This report sets out how the Council intends to adapt its meeting procedures, as permitted 
by the 2020 Regulations, to ensure effective decision making can be made, on essential 
and urgent matters, through virtual meetings.

2 The effect of the 2020 Regulations on Council meetings
2.1 The Regulations allow councils to hold meetings in ‘electronic, digital or virtual locations’ 

(Reg 5(1)). 

2.2 A virtual meeting must ensure that members can hear and where practicable, see other 
members and other attendees, and that members of the public can hear and where 
practicable see members (Reg 5(2)).

2.3 In order to achieve the requirements above, officers have investigated numerous IT 
solutions and this report recommends the use of Skype for Business, for which the Council 
has secure licences through which it can host virtual meetings with up to 250 attendees, 
including press and public. 

2.4 The Council is empowered to hold virtual meetings, despite any constitutional prohibitions 
or restrictions so that such ‘prohibition or restriction has no effect’. (Reg 5(5)). This mean 
that in order to hold efficient and smooth-running meetings, meeting protocols can be 
changed outside the Constitution.

2.5 The Council cannot use the Regulations to change constitutional delegations.

3 Proposed changes to meetings
3.1 The Council needs to carry on its business, and in the pandemic while actual meetings 

cannot be held, it is proposed that the meeting protocols for Council and Planning 
Committee are adapted, as set out in Appendix 1 (Virtual Planning Committee Protocol) 
and Appendix 2 (Council Protocol). 

3.2 The main changes proposed are as follows:

3.3 For Council: to enable every member of the council to take part in Council meetings, it is 
proposed that the meeting focuses on essential decision making only. The challenges of 
using technology to speak, and be seen and heard are significant, and voting will need to 
be by roll call on every decision.  Accordingly, it is proposed that Motions, Public 
Questions and Members’ Open Questions are not taken at the first meeting on 14 May 
2020.

3.4 For Planning Committee: for the same reasons as above, speaking time for ward 
councillors is proposed to be reduced to 3 minutes; limits on 2 objectors and 1 supporter 
are proposed; members questions to the planning officer are limited to 10 minutes and 

98



questions will only be permitted to the applicant and their agent, not other public speakers; 
and there will be no site visits due to social distancing requirements and restrictions on 
non-essential travel

4 Comments of Consultees
4.1 The Chairman of the Constitution Committee and the Leader of the Council have been 

consulted and both are in support of the changes. The Chairman of the Planning 
Committee and the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning have also been consulted 
on the procedures for virtual Planning Committee meetings and are supportive.

5 Available Options Considered
5.1 Possible alternatives are:

i. Not to hold any virtual meetings – this would paralyse certain decision making

ii. Delegate all decisions to officers – this is not in keeping with the spirit of the 
Regulations, which enable virtual meetings to be held

iii. Reduce numbers of Members attending virtual meetings – this would make 
virtual meetings more manageable but would not permit all Members to attend 
Council meetings or the committees to which they have been appointed 

6 Preferred Option
6.1 The preferred option is for virtual meetings to be held, with all members present, to focus 

on essential decisions. To do this, some changes to meeting protocols are necessary.

7 Reasons for the Decision (s)
7.1 Efficient and smooth-running of the first Council meeting at this time as the Covid-19 

pandemic restrictions apply.

8 Financial Implications 
8.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

9 Legal and Governance Implications 
9.1 The legal implications are covered within the body of this report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

10 Equality and Safeguarding implications
10.1 There may be implications for those members of the public who do not have access to IT 

to be able to join the meeting. Regrettably, there are few mitigation measures that can be 
taken, but the impact is considered to be low as the Skype for Business application can 
easily be downloaded by all those who have a smart device.

11 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

11.1 The carbon footprint of officers and members involved in virtual meetings will be greatly 
reduced, as very few people will be required to attend the meetings in person.

99



12 Appendices
12.1 Appendix 1 – Virtual Planning meeting protocol

12.2 Appendix 2 – Virtual Council meeting protocol

Call-in deadline (where applicable) Not applicableReport Timeline:
Date decision effective (subject to call-in) 1 May 2020

100



Virtual Meetings through Skype for 
Business
Planning Committee Protocol

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 
Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2020 make provision for remote attendance at, and remote access to Council 
meetings held on or before 7 May 2021.

1.2 The Regulations enable the Council to hold meetings without all, or any, of the 
Members being physically present in the room. They allow for remote meetings 
through electronic and digital means at virtual locations using video and telephone 
conference, live webcast and live interactive streaming.

1.3 The “place” at which the meeting may be held may be a council meeting, or where 
the organiser of the meeting is located, or an electronic, digital or virtual location, a 
web address or a conference call telephone number.

1.4 In order for Members to be able to attend meetings of the Council remotely, they 
need not be physically present, provided they are able to hear and be heard (and 
where practicable, see and be seen) by other Councillors and members of the public 
attending remotely or in person.

1.5 The procedure rules in this protocol replace Council standing orders for all Virtual 
Planning Meetings held during the Covid-19 response period until 7 May 2021. 

1.6 In line with the Regulations, this protocol is designed to provide a guide to virtual 
formal Committee meetings involving Members, officers and the public during the 
Covid-19 crisis and will be kept under review. 

2.0 Access to documents

2.1 Democratic Services will publish the agenda and reports for committee meetings on 
the Council’s website and will notify Councillors by e-mail. 

3.0 Public / press access

3.1 Details of how members of the press and public can join the meeting will be included 
on the meeting Agenda cover sheet

101

Appendix 13 (1)



3.2 Members of the public can also e-mail democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk and the 
team will talk them through how they can enter the meeting

3.3 Members of the public wishing to attend the meeting will do so through Skype for 
Business 

3.4 Members of the public using a smartphone or tablet may need to download the app 
before they can enter, so sufficient time should be allowed for this. The app can be 
downloaded for free through the app store on Apple devices and Google Play Store 
on android devices 

3.5 Users accessing the meeting via a laptop or desktop computer should be able to 
access the meeting via their web browser

3.6 When members of the public follow the link to the meeting, they will enter a virtual 
lobby

3.7 Members of the public will be invited into the meeting from the lobby just prior to its 
commencement

3.8 Members of the public will be able to see which members are indicating to speak 
through the Chat function. Members of the public are not permitted to use the Chat 
function and the Chair will make an announcement at the start of the meeting. 

4.0 Before the meeting

4.1 Members of the committee will be sent an invitation that provides them with a link to 
the meeting

4.2 All Members should be present in the virtual meeting environment 30-minutes before 
the published start time of the Committee meeting

4.3 Officers will ensure that Members have been able to successfully join the meeting 
and brief them on:

 How they can request to speak
 How their microphone will work
 Any rules about how long they can speak for 
 How to “pin” the people they need to see to their screen
 How to see participants
 What happens if it is necessary to go into exempt session
 General etiquette 

4.4 Just before the start time, the Meeting Clerk will start the recording. 

4.5 The Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer) will invite any members of the 
public in from the lobby at the direction of the Chairman and will also be responsible 
for turning microphones on and off.

5.0 Opening the meeting 

5.1 The Chairman will open the meeting in the usual manner

5.2 The Chairman will remind all present of the following: 

 Members, officers and any members of the public who have registered to 
speak will have their microphone released and turned off for them

 Speakers will be advised when the have 30 seconds left and when their time is 
up

102

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 That the meeting is being recorded
 All present should turn off their telephones or put them onto silent mode
 The chat facility is for use by Councillors only to indicate that they wish to 

speak. Members of the public must not use the chat function.

6.0 Confirming who is present

6.1 A Member is deemed to be present, for the purposes of the meeting’s quorum, so 
long as they can: 

 Hear, and (where practicable) see others in the meeting
 Be seen and heard by other members and the public

6.2 The first item on every agenda will be a Register of Attendance

6.3 The Meeting Clerk will call the name of each Member in the order listed on the 
agenda coversheet. Members should respond with the word “present”

6.4 The Meeting Clerk will call the name of each officer in attendance. Officers should 
respond with the word “present”

6.5 The Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer) will call the name of any 
members of the public who have registered to speak. They should respond with the 
word “present”

6.6 The Meeting Clerk will confirm if the meeting is quorate  

7.0 Approving minutes

7.1 The Chairman and Vice-Chairman will propose and second the minutes of the 
previous meeting. Any comment on the accuracy of the minutes will only be permitted 
for substantial inaccuracies. 

8.0 Disclosure of Interests

8.1 If you think you have an interest in an item or would like any advice, please contact 
the Democratic Services Team before the meeting

8.2 The Chairman will ask for disclosures of interests 

8.3 Any member with an interest will indicate through the ‘Chat’ function that they wish to 
disclose an interest

8.4 The Chairman will ask the Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer) to list 
aloud the members who have indicated they have an interest to disclose

8.5 The Chairman will call their names in turn and the Head of Governance (or other 
appropriate officer) will release the Member’s microphone

8.6 The Member will make their declaration and the Head of Governance (or other 
appropriate officer) will turn off their microphone

8.7 The Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer) will make a note of which 
Members disclose an interest in which items and will remove them from the meeting 
prior to the commencement of that item and will confirm to the Chairman when this 
has been done

8.8 The Member should leave Skype for business open and wait to be invited back into 
the meeting (when a Member is removed from the meeting a banner will give them 

103



the option to re-join; they should not click on this banner as it will bring them straight 
back into the meeting) 

8.9 The item will be considered

8.10 The Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer) will invite any Members who 
have disclosed interests back into the meeting

9.0 Order of business

9.1 Presentation by planning officer

9.2 Public speaking session (arrangements set out below)

9.3 Questions to the applicant or their agent (10 minutes)

9.4 Questions to the Planning Officer (10 minutes)

9.5 Debate and propositions

9.6 Vote

10.0 Public speaking

10.1 All speeches will be limited to 3 minutes. The speaker will be advised when they 
have 30-seconds left and when their time is up

10.2 Speakers must register by 5pm 2 working days before the meeting via 
democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk and submit a copy of their speech and any 
photographs they wish the Committee to consider. This is to ensure that in the event 
of a connection failure, the Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer) can 
read the speech and show any photographs to the meeting, to enable the agenda 
item to be considered in full. The speech/ photographs will not be forwarded to any 
member or applicant and will only be made available at the meeting.

10.3 Public speaking slots will be allocated on a ‘first come, first served’ basis

10.4 If the speech/ accompanying photographs are not submitted by the deadline, the 
speaker will not be permitted to speak

10.5 If, during their speech, a speaker’s connection fails, the remainder of their speech will 
be read by the Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer).

10.6 The order of speakers shall be as follows:

 District Councillor (3 minutes)
 Parish/Town Council (3 minutes)
 Objector x 2 (3 minutes)
 Supporter x 1 (3 minutes)
 Applicant or agent (3 minutes)

10.7 Members will only be able to ask questions of the applicant or their agent during a 
session lasting no more than 10 minutes in total.

10.8 Speakers will be warned when they have 30 seconds left and when their time is up

104

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


11.0 Questions to the Planning Officer

11.1 Members should read papers well in advance of the Committee meeting and where 
possible, submit their questions to the Planning Officer no later than 2pm one 
working day before the meeting

11.2 A schedule of questions and answers will be e-mailed to all Committee Members and 
published with the other meeting documents on the Council’s website

11.3 Within the meeting, questions to the Planning Officer will be limited to a period of no 
longer than 10 minutes 

 

12.0 Proposing and seconding

12.1 Prior to any vote, the Chairman will ask the Meeting Clerk if there is a proposer and 
seconder

12.2 The Meeting Clerk will confirm whether the item has been proposed and seconded 
(including names)

12.3 If there is no proposer and/or seconder the Chairman will ask for one.

12.4 Members should indicate that they wish to propose or second through the ‘Chat’ 
function by putting ‘p’ for propose and ‘s’ for second

12.5 The Meeting Clerk will confirm to the meeting the names of the proposer and 
seconder

12.6 Where a proposition is made to refuse an application contrary to officer 
recommendations, the cooling off period will be invoked

 The recommendation will become ‘minded to refuse’
 At the end of debate, a recorded vote will be taken
 Members who vote in favour of refusal have five working days to submit their 

reasons for refusal, in writing, to the Head of Development Management
 For the next meeting of the Committee those reasons will be captured in a 

report with an assessment by the Head of Development Management
 On receipt of this report Members will be able to make a decision taking all 

considerations into account, including the commentary of the Head of 
Development Management on proposed reasons for refusal

 A recorded vote will be taken

13.0 Debate 

13.1 The Chairman will ask whether anyone wishes to speak, and pause for a couple of 
minutes to allow members to register

13.2 Members to indicate that they wish to speak through the Skype for Business ‘Chat’ 
function by typing “me”

13.3 The Chairman will ask the Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer) to list 
members who have indicated they wish to speak

13.4 The Chairman will call members in order

13.5 The Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer) will release and mute 
microphones

13.6 The Chairman will ask the Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer) to 
confirm any more speakers 

105



13.7 Each member may speak for no more than 3 minutes (instead of 5-minutes for 
physical meetings)

13.8 Each member may speak once on any proposition (except the proposer, who will 
have 3-minutes to sum up at the end of the debate)

13.9 Members may propose and second items during their speeches

13.10 There will be no points of order or personal explanation

13.11 Speeches will be timed by the Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer). 
Speakers will be advised when they have 30 seconds left and when their time is up

14.0 Amendments

14.1 Members are asked to consider carefully the need for amendments

14.2 Members are asked to contact the Chairman and relevant officer before the meeting 
to see if their amendment could be treated as an alteration to a recommendation

15.0 Voting

15.1 Votes will be by roll call in the order the names appear on the front of the agenda, 
with the exception of the chairman, who will be called last

15.2 As each Member’s name is called, they will state whether they are for, against or 
abstain

15.3 The Meeting Clerk and legal Adviser will confirm their records tally and the Meeting 
Clerk will confirm the number of votes cast for, against and in abstention and whether 
the proposition has been carried

15.4 Only the outcome of the vote will be noted in the minutes unless a recorded vote has 
been requested prior to the vote taking place

16.0 Dealing with technical difficulties

16.1 Loss of public access

 If the Chairman is made aware that technical connection problems have 
prevented members of the public accessing the meeting, the meeting will be 
adjourned without further consideration of any items

 If access cannot be restored within a reasonable period, the remaining 
business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman

 If the Chairman does not fix a date, outstanding business will be considered at 
the next ordinary Virtual Meeting 

16.2 Loss of Member connection

 If a member loses connectivity for more than a few seconds the Chairman will 
adjourn the meeting for a short period to try to reconnect the Member (a 
member of the IT team will be available to help troubleshoot any problems)

 If the connection is not re-established within a reasonable period (e.g. 10 
minutes), the Chairman will ask Members if they wish to resume the meeting 
without the Member whose connection has been lost, so long as the meeting 
remains quorate

 If the Member cannot re-join and the meeting is quorate, the remaining 
business of the meeting shall be transacted in the absence of the Member 

106



 If the meeting is inquorate, the meeting must be adjourned and remaining 
business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the chairman

 If the Chairman does not fix a date, outstanding business will be considered at 
the next ordinary virtual Meeting

17.0 Dealing with disruption

17.1 The ‘Chat’ function in Skype for Business is solely for the use of Members, for 
members to indicate their desire to speak. Members should not use the chat function 
to relay any views on the application, or for any other purpose.

17.2 If a member of the public uses the ‘Chat’ function, they will be asked not to use it

17.3 Should the member of the public comment in the ‘Chat’ function for a second time, 
they will be removed from the meeting

18.0 Exclusion of press and public

18.1 Where it is necessary to exclude the press and public from the meeting to discuss 
confidential or exempt items (as defined Schedule 12A or the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended)) the Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer) will 
ensure that there are no public in remote attendance or remotely accessing the 
meeting

18.2 Each Member will be called in turn and must verbally declare that there are no other 
persons present who are not entitled to be (either hearing or seeing) consideration of 
such items, and/or recording the proceedings. Members should be particularly 
mindful to ensure any smart speakers (such as Amazon Alexa, or Google Home) do 
not record and transmit any exempt item.

18.3 Any Member who fails to disclose that there were persons present who were not 
entitled to be there would be in breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct

19.0 Conclusion of the meeting

19.1 The Chairman will declare the meeting closed

19.2 The Meeting Clerk will stop the recording of the meeting

19.3 The Head of Governance (or other appropriate officer) will end the session, which will 
remove all participants 

20.0 The meeting recording

20.1 The recording will be used to help the Meeting Clerk produce the minutes of the 
meeting

20.2 The recording will be retained in line with the Council’s retention Schedule 
(recordings are retained for 1-year pending any outstanding challenge to a decision 
at that meeting, when the recording will be retained as long as necessary)

20.3 The minutes will be checked and published on the Council’s website

107



Other matters 
 Equipment: Members and officers must only access Skype for Business and the 

meeting via the device that has been configured by SKDC for this purpose
 Power: Meeting participants should remember to charge their device in advance 

of the meeting or ensure they are plugged into a power source
 Location and background:  Meeting participants should consider their location 

for the meeting and what is visible in the background. A plain wall can create a good 
background for a remote meeting and participants should remove anything that they 
would not wish to be on view, such as family photos

 Prepare some notes or lists for ease of reference during the meeting. This 
preparation may save you time when referring to the agenda and participating in the 
meeting  

 Find a suitable location for the meeting, where you will be comfortable and won’t be 
disturbed  

108



Virtual Meetings through Skype for 
Business
Full Council Protocol

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 
Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2020 make provision for remote attendance at, and remote access to Council 
meetings held on or before 7 May 2021.

1.2 The Regulations enable the Council to hold meetings without all, or any, of the 
Members being physically present in the room. They allow for remote meetings 
through electronic and digital means at virtual locations using video and telephone 
conference, live webcast and live interactive streaming.

1.3 The “place” at which the meeting may be held may be a council meeting, or where 
the organiser of the meeting is located, or an electronic, digital or virtual location, a 
web address or a conference call telephone number.

1.4 In order for Members to be able to attend meetings of the Council remotely, they 
need not be physically present, provided they are able to hear and be heard (and 
where practicable, see and be seen) by other Councillors and members of the public 
attending remotely or in person.

1.5 The procedure rules in this protocol replace Council standing orders for all Virtual 
Council Meetings held during the Covid-19 response period until 7 May 2021. 

1.6 In line with the Regulations, this protocol is designed to provide a guide to virtual 
Council meetings involving Members, officers and the public during the Covid-19 
crisis and will be kept under review. 

2.0 Access to documents

2.1 Democratic Services will publish the agenda and reports for Council meetings on the 
Council’s website and will notify Councillors by e-mail. Councillors will be supplied 
with a hard copy of the agenda.

109

Appendix 13(2)



3.0 Public / press access

3.1 Details of how members of the press and public can join the meeting will be included 
on the meeting Agenda cover sheet

3.2 Members of the public can also e-mail democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk and the 
team will talk them through how they can enter the meeting

3.3 Members of the public wishing to attend the meeting will do so through Skype for 
Business 

3.4 Members of the public using a smartphone or tablet may need to download the app 
before they can enter, so sufficient time should be allowed for this. The app can be 
downloaded for free through the app store on Apple devices and Google Play Store 
on android devices 

3.5 Users accessing the meeting via a laptop or desktop computer should be able to 
access the meeting via their web browser

3.6 When members of the public follow the link to the meeting, they will enter a virtual 
lobby

3.7 Members of the public will be invited into the meeting from the lobby just prior to its 
commencement

3.8 Members of the public will be able to see which members are indicating to speak 
through the Chat function. Members of the public are not permitted to use the Chat 
function and the Chair will make an announcement at the start of the meeting. 

4.0 Before the meeting

4.1 Members of Council will be sent an invitation that provides them with a link to the 
meeting

4.2 All Members should be present in the virtual meeting environment 30-minutes before 
the published start time of the Council meeting

4.3 Officers will ensure that Members have been able to successfully join the meeting 
and brief them on:

 How they can request to speak
 How their microphone will work
 Any rules about how long they can speak for 
 How to “pin” the people they need to see to their screen
 How to see participants
 What happens if it is necessary to go into exempt session
 General etiquette 

4.4 Just before the start time, the Meeting Clerk will start the recording. 

4.5 The Technical Clerk will invite any members of the public in from the lobby and will 
also be responsible for turning microphones on and off.

5.0 Opening the meeting 

5.1 The Chairman will open the meeting in the usual manner

5.2 The Chairman will remind all present of the following: 

110

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 Members and officers will have their microphone released and turned off for 
them

 Speakers will be advised when the have 30 seconds left and when their time is 
up

 That the meeting is being recorded
 All present should turn off their telephones or put them onto silent mode
 The chat facility is for use by Councillors only to indicate that they wish to 

speak. Members of the public must not use the chat function.

6.0 Confirming who is present

6.1 A Member is deemed to be present, for the purposes of the meeting’s quorum, so 
long as they can: 

 Hear, and (where practicable) see others in the meeting
 Be seen and heard by other members and the public

6.2 The first item on every agenda will be a Register of Attendance

6.3 The Chief Executive will call the name of each Member in the order listed on the 
agenda coversheet. Members should respond with the word “present”.

6.4 The Chief Executive will call the name of each officer in attendance. Officers should 
respond with the word “present”.

6.5 The Meeting Clerk will confirm if the meeting is quorate (a quorum for Council is 14 
Members).  

7.0 Approving minutes

7.1 The Chairman and Vice-Chairman will propose and second the minutes of the 
previous meeting. Any comment on the accuracy of the minutes will only be permitted 
for substantial inaccuracies. 

8.0 Disclosure of Interests

8.1 If you think you have an interest in an item or would like any advice, please contact 
the Democratic Services Team before the meeting

8.2 The Chairman will ask for disclosures of interests 

8.3 Any member with an interest will indicate through the ‘Chat’ function that they wish to 
disclose an interest

8.4 Following a brief pause, the Chairman will ask the Technical Clerk to list aloud the 
members who have indicated they have an interest to disclose

8.5 The Chairman will call their names in turn and the Technical Clerk will release the 
Member’s microphone

8.6 The Member will make their declaration and the Technical Clerk will turn off their 
microphone

8.7 The Technical Clerk will make a note of which Members disclose an interest in which 
items and will remove them from the meeting prior to the commencement of that item 
and will confirm to the Chairman when this has been done

8.8 The ejected Member should leave Skype for business open and wait to be invited 
back into the meeting (when a Member is removed from the meeting a banner will 

111



give them the option to re-join; they should not click on this banner as it will bring 
them straight back into the meeting) 

8.9 The item will be considered

8.10 The Technical Clerk will invite any Members who have disclosed interests back into 
the meeting

9.0 Proposing and seconding

9.1 Items still need to be proposed and seconded

9.2 The Chairman will invite the relevant Cabinet Member or Chairman of the relevant 
Committee to propose the recommendations in a report

9.3 Prior to the meeting the Chairman will have been advised of who will be seconding 
the recommendations and call on them to do this

10.0 Debate 

10.1 The Chairman will ask whether anyone wishes to speak, and pause for a moment to 
allow members to register

10.2 Members to indicate that they wish to speak through the Skype for Business ‘Chat’ 
function by typing “me”

10.3 The Chairman will ask the Technical Clerk to list members who have indicated they 
wish to speak

10.4 The Chairman will call members in order

10.5 The Technical Clerk will release and mute microphones

10.6 The Chairman will ask the Technical Clerk to confirm any more speakers 

10.7 Each member may speak for no more than 5 minutes 

10.8 Each member may speak once on any proposition (except the proposer, who will 
have 5 minutes to sum up at the end of the debate)

10.9 There will be no points of order or personal explanation

10.10 Speeches will be timed by the Technical Clerk. Speakers will be advised when they 
have 30 seconds left and when their time is up

11.0 Amendments

11.1 Members are asked to consider carefully the need for amendments

11.2 Where a Member knows before the meeting that they wish to make an amendment, 
they are asked to e-mail a copy of the wording to democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk 
prior to the meeting’s commencement

12.0 Voting

12.1 Votes will be by roll call in the order the names appear on the front of the agenda, 
with the exception of the chairman, who will be called last

12.2 As each Member’s name is called by the Chief Executive, they will state whether they 
are for, against or abstain

112

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


12.3 The Meeting Clerk and Legal Adviser will confirm their records tally and the Meeting 
Clerk will confirm the number of votes cast for, against and in abstention and whether 
the proposition has been carried

12.4 Only the outcome of the vote will be noted in the minutes unless a recorded vote has 
been requested prior to the vote taking place

13.0 Dealing with technical difficulties

13.1 Loss of public access

 If the Chairman is made aware that technical connection problems have 
prevented members of the public accessing the meeting, the meeting will be 
adjourned without further consideration of any items

 If access cannot be restored within a reasonable period, the remaining 
business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman

 If the Chairman does not fix a date, outstanding business will be considered at 
the next ordinary Virtual Meeting 

13.2 Loss of Member connection

 If a member loses connectivity for more than a few seconds, they will have 
been deemed to have left the meeting 

 The Chairman may adjourn the meeting for a short period to try to reconnect 
the Member (a member of the IT team will be available to help troubleshoot any 
problems)

 If the Member cannot re-join and the meeting is quorate, the remaining 
business of the meeting shall be transacted in the absence of the Member 

 If the connection is re-established while the meeting is still in progress, the 
member will have been considered as having re-joined it at that point

 If the meeting is inquorate, the meeting must be adjourned and remaining 
business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman

 If the Chairman does not fix a date, outstanding business will be considered at 
the next ordinary virtual Meeting

14.0 Dealing with disruption

14.1 The ‘Chat’ function in Skype for Business is solely for the use of Members, for 
Members to indicate their desire to speak. Members should not use the chat function 
for any other purpose.

14.2 If a member of the public uses the ‘Chat’ function, they will be asked not to use it

14.3 Should the member of the public comment in the ‘Chat’ function for a second time, 
they will be removed from the meeting

15.0 Exclusion of press and public

15.1 Where it is necessary to exclude the press and public from the meeting to discuss 
confidential or exempt items (as defined Schedule 12A or the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended)) the Technical Clerk will ensure that there are no public in remote 
attendance or remotely accessing the meeting

15.2 Each Member will be called in turn and must verbally declare that there are no other 
persons present who are not entitled to be present (either hearing or seeing) during 
consideration of such items, and/or recording the proceedings. Members should be 

113



particularly mindful to ensure any smart speakers (such as Amazon Alexa, or Google 
Home) do not record and transmit any exempt item.

15.3 Any Member who fails to disclose that there were persons present who were not 
entitled to be there would be in breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct

16.0 Conclusion of the meeting

16.1 The Chairman will declare the meeting closed

16.2 The Meeting Clerk will stop the recording of the meeting

16.3 The Technical Clerk will close the meeting, which will remove all participants from the 
session

17.0 The meeting recording

17.1 The recording will be used to help the Meeting Clerk produce the minutes of the 
meeting

17.2 The recording will be retained in line with the Council’s retention Schedule (one year 
from the date of the meeting Pending any outstanding challenge to a decision taken 
at that meeting when the recording will be retained as long as necessary)

17.3 The minutes will be checked and published on the Council’s website

Other matters 
 Equipment: Members and officers must only access Skype for Business and the 

meeting via the device that has been configured by SKDC for this purpose
 Power: Meeting participants should remember to charge their device in advance 

of the meeting or ensure they are plugged into a power source
 Location and background:  Meeting participants should consider their location 

for the meeting and what is visible in the background. A plain wall can create a good 
background for a remote meeting and participants should remove anything that they 
would not wish to be on view, such as family photos

 Prepare some notes or lists for ease of reference during the meeting. This 
preparation may save you time when referring to the agenda and participating in the 
meeting  

 Find a suitable location for the meeting, where you will be comfortable and won’t be 
disturbed  

114



Officer Delegated 
Decision
20 March 2020
The Leader of the Council

        

Employee Assistance Programme

Decision made by: Elaine Pepper, Head of Organisational Devlopment

Decision: Employee Assistance Programme to be extended to include 
Elected Members, from 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021 for an 
additional cost of £420.40.

Date: 1st April 2020

Public or Exempt: Public

Reasons for exemption: N/A

Conflicts of interest: No

Policy compliant: Yes

Details Of Delegation Councils Constitution, Article 16 – Officers, 16.2d 1. ii) Heads of 
Service to manage the services for which they are responsible 
within the budgets made or approved by Council.

Contact

Elaine Pepper, Head of Organisational Development

01476 406132

e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk

115

Appendix 14



1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 As the situation with the Coronavirus Pandemic intensifies, South Kesteven District 

Council is keen to ensure that all staff have the support, advice, help and guidance to 
assist with dealing with the issues that the pandemic brings or may bring over the coming 
weeks and months.  Also at the same time we want to ensure that all the Council’s elected 
Members have the same support as they could be facing the same issues.  One of the 
ways SKDC supports staff is through the Employee Assistance Programme.  This is an 
on-line portal that gives lots of information and advice with regard to the coronavirus 
pandemic, mental health, stress and anxiety, working from home and keeping in touch 
with family and friends during these unprecedented times.  It also gives telephone support 
and advice with fully qualified counsellors should the worst happen.  The Head of 
Organisational Development researched the possibilities of extending this essential 
service to all Elected Members, it could, and made the decision to extend the service from 
the 1st April 2020 to the 31st March 2021 to include all staff and their close families and all 
Members and their close families.  The cost to the organisation for the extended service is 
£430.80 per annum and can be funded from the existing Staff Wellbeing Budget.

2 Reasons for the Decision (s)
2.1 In reviewing arrangements that the council has in place, it is recognised that there are 

systems in place to support officers but not members and their families. We appreciate 
and understand that this will be a difficult time with staff and members being directly 
affected by Covid 19 and the council has a duty to support the welfare of employees and it 
is important to include councillors and their families.

3 Financial Implications 
3.1 The additional cost that is referenced in the report is able to be funded from existing 

budgets.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

4 Legal and Governance Implications 
4.1 There are no governance implications arising as a result of this report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance

5 Equality and Safeguarding implications
5.1 Non in relation to this report.

6 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

6.1 None relating to this report.

Call-in deadline (where applicable) N/AReport Timeline:

Date decision effective (subject to call-in) 20 March 2020

116


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the meeting held on 2 March 2020
	6 Extension of 6-month attendance rule
	7 Amendments to the Constitution: Provisions to provide clarity and accountability in emergency scenarios
	8a Decisions taken during the COVID-19 response period including decisions made under General Exception and Special Urgency arrangements
	Appendix 1: Scheme of Delegation - COVID-19 response period
	Appendix 2: Gravity Fields Festival 2020
	Appendix 3: Council Tax Hardship Fund
	Appendix 4: Ward Member Grant Scheme
	Appendix 5: Temporary amendments to the South Kesteven District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy
	Appendix 6: Deferral of rental income for specific organisations occupying Council commercial premises
	Appendix 7: Remuneration of street scene officers during the COVID-19 outbreak
	Appendix 8: Refuse and recycling operational policies
	Appendix 9: Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme
	Appendix 10: Suspension of collection and enforcement for South Kesteven District Council's pay and display car parks
	Appendix 11: Furlough of staff from East Midlands Building Control
	Appendix 12: Temporary amendment to the South Kesteven District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (vehicle age)
	Appendix 13: Meeting procedures during the COVID-19 restriction period
	Appendix 13(1): virtual planning meeting protocol
	Appendix 13(2): virtual Council meeting Protocol
	Appendix 14: Employee Assistance Programme


